



https://lib.uliege.be

https://matheo.uliege.be

Unemployment and labour market policies: a comparative analysis of Belgium and Germany

Auteur : Hames, Mike Promoteur(s) : Lejeune, Bernard Faculté : HEC-Ecole de gestion de l'Université de Liège Diplôme : Master en sciences économiques, orientation générale, à finalité spécialisée en macroeconomics and finance Année académique : 2020-2021 URI/URL : http://hdl.handle.net/2268.2/13607

Avertissement à l'attention des usagers :

Tous les documents placés en accès ouvert sur le site le site MatheO sont protégés par le droit d'auteur. Conformément aux principes énoncés par la "Budapest Open Access Initiative" (BOAI, 2002), l'utilisateur du site peut lire, télécharger, copier, transmettre, imprimer, chercher ou faire un lien vers le texte intégral de ces documents, les disséquer pour les indexer, s'en servir de données pour un logiciel, ou s'en servir à toute autre fin légale (ou prévue par la réglementation relative au droit d'auteur). Toute utilisation du document à des fins commerciales est strictement interdite.

Par ailleurs, l'utilisateur s'engage à respecter les droits moraux de l'auteur, principalement le droit à l'intégrité de l'oeuvre et le droit de paternité et ce dans toute utilisation que l'utilisateur entreprend. Ainsi, à titre d'exemple, lorsqu'il reproduira un document par extrait ou dans son intégralité, l'utilisateur citera de manière complète les sources telles que mentionnées ci-dessus. Toute utilisation non explicitement autorisée ci-avant (telle que par exemple, la modification du document ou son résumé) nécessite l'autorisation préalable et expresse des auteurs ou de leurs ayants droit.



UNEMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR MARKET POLICIES: A COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF BELGIUM AND GERMANY

Jury: Promoter: Bernard LEJEUNE Readers: Sergio PERELMAN Jérôme SCHOENMAECKERS Dissertation by Mike HAMES Master in Science of Economics, specializing in Macroeconomics and Finance Academic year 2020/2021

Acknowledgments

First of all, I am very grateful for the advices that my supervisor Professor LEJEUNE Bernard gave me throughout the progress of this work. His expertise and guidance were very valuable in structuring the thesis. He took his time to be available when I was struggling and I had questions about my work or that I needed some general feedback and hints on the procedure. Furthermore, I am glad that he suggested this topic because it is a really interesting subject to me and it enabled me to acquire more knowledge about elements that have not been discussed during the lectures.

I also want to thank my reading committee, which is composed of Professor PERELMAN Sergio and Professor SCHOENMAECKERS Jérôme, for taking the time to read my thesis. Furthermore, I want to acknowledge the efforts put into the lectures of "Master Thesis Methodology" by Professor SCHOENMAECKERS Jérôme and the feedback he gave on the different assignments. This has been very useful for the writing of the thesis.

The internship, that I have done at IWEPS, under the mentoring of Ms. O'DORCHAI Síle and Ms. FONDER Muriel, has also a huge impact on the quality of the thesis. They have provided me with precious information and advices on how to proceed and to write a report, which I hope to have implemented in the best possible way into this work.

On top of this, I want to thank the personnel of HEC as well as the teaching staff for all their efforts put into the lectures. Given the big change in the way how the educational system worked, because of the Covid-19 pandemic, I appreciate that everyone did its best to adapt to the new situation. Even though the circumstances were difficult and sudden, everyone was working hard to adjust to the transformed way of living and working.

I am also very thankful that Ms. MILAKOVIC Ivana, Mr. GRAISSE Florian, Mr. MAITRY Robert and Mr. REHPENNING Aaron have taken the time to help me in the proofreading. Their comments and suggestions led to a significant improvement of the writing quality.

Last but not least, the support by my family and friends cannot be neglected. Their encouragement throughout the studies and the process of the thesis has been very important for me, especially after the breakout of the Covid-19 pandemic and its subsequent restrictions. This showed who I really can count on and I am very grateful for their patience and support, which made the achievement of my studies and this thesis possible.

Executive Summary

The goal of this thesis is to do a comparative analysis of the effects of labour market policies on unemployment. The two countries of comparison are Belgium and Germany. The aim is to take studies that have been done so far and to compare their results for both countries. Therefore, some reasons for the existence of unemployment will be presented, before moving to a description of several labour market policies, which include unemployment compensation schemes. Then, the effects of unemployment benefits will be discussed in a more detailed way, especially in the case of a reduction in the duration and the generosity of unemployment benefits. Although most policies seem to have similar effects in Belgium and Germany, some heterogeneities persist. Some policies have a stronger impact on unemployment than others, and in some cases, differences within the groups of the unemployed can be identified. All in all, however, it can be seen that the effects of the labour market policies are mostly in line with what is predicted by the literature. Being a broad and complex topic, the elements presented in this thesis are not exhaustive. The framework of this work would otherwise have been exceeded.

Table of contents

| 1 | Intro | oduction | n | 1 |
|----|--------|------------------|--|------------|
| 2 | Lite | rature r | eview | 3 |
| | 2.1 | Reason | ns for unemployment | 3 |
| | | 2.1.1 | Demography | 3 |
| | | 2.1.2 | Education and formation | 3 |
| | | 2.1.3 | Wages | 4 |
| | | 2.1.4 | Economic cycles | 5 |
| | | 2.1.5 | Job shortages and skills mismatches | 5 |
| | | | 2.1.5.1 Job shortages | 5 |
| | | | 2.1.5.2 Skills mismatches | 5 |
| | | 2.1.6 | Technological change and sectorial restructuration | 7 |
| | 2.2 | Labour | market policies | 8 |
| | | 2.2.1 | Active labour market policies | 8 |
| | | | 2.2.1.1 Job search assistance and monitoring | 8 |
| | | | 2.2.1.2 Education and training | 9 |
| | | | 2.2.1.3 Labour mobility and migration | 9 |
| | | | 2.2.1.4 Short-time work | 10 |
| | | | 2.2.1.5 Early retirement programmes | 10 |
| | | | 2.2.1.6 Financial incentives | 10 |
| | | 2.2.2 | Passive labour market policies | 11 |
| | | | 2.2.2.1 Employment protection | 11 |
| | | | 2.2.2.2 Unemployment benefits | 11 |
| | 2.3 | Job sea | rch behaviour | 12 |
| | | 2.3.1 | General presentation of job search | 13 |
| | | 2.3.2 | Reduction in the generosity of benefits | 15 |
| | | 2.3.3 | Reduction in the duration of benefits | 17 |
| 2 | Emr | inical n | out | 10 |
| 3 | 2 1 | Econor Econor | ari nic situation | 10 |
| | 3.1 | Labour | me situation | 21 |
| | 5.2 | 2 2 1 | Indirect | 21 |
| | | 3.2.1 | Labour market policies | 21 |
| | | 3.2.2 | 3.2.2.1 General insights into the labour market legislation | 33 |
| | | | 3.2.2.1 General insights into the labour market registration | 25 |
| | | | 3.2.2.2 Education and training | 35 |
| | | | 3.2.2.5 Labour mobility and migration | 30 |
| | | | 3.2.2.4 Atypical jobs | 30 |
| | | | 3.2.2.5 Refinement programmes | 12 |
| | | 373 | Unemployment compensation | 42 |
| | 33 | J.2.J Joh sea | onemployment compensation | 43 |
| | 5.5 | JUU 300 | | ч 7 |
| 4 | Disc | ussion a | and Policy recommendations | 51 |
| 5 | Con | clusion | | 52 |
| Bi | bliogr | aphy | | 53 |
| An | pend | ix | | 60 |
| 1 | | | | |

List of Figures

| 1 | Increase in the minimum wage | 4 |
|----|--|----|
| 2 | Job shortages and skills mismatches | 6 |
| 3 | Annual economic growth in Belgium between 2000 and 2020 | 20 |
| 4 | Annual economic growth in Germany between 2000 and 2020 | 20 |
| 5 | Evolution of the employment rate in Belgium | 22 |
| 6 | Evolution of unemployment in Belgium | 23 |
| 7 | Unemployment rates in the different regions of Belgium in 2020 | 24 |
| 8 | Evolution of vacancies in Belgium | 25 |
| 9 | Demographic evolution in Belgium | 26 |
| 10 | Evolution of unemployment in Germany | 28 |
| 11 | Evolution of the employment rate in Germany | 29 |
| 12 | Unemployment rates in the different regions of Germany in 2017 | 30 |
| 13 | Evolution of vacancies in Germany | 31 |
| 14 | Demographic evolution in Germany | 31 |
| 15 | Comparison of the unemployment rates of Belgium and Germany | 32 |
| 16 | Mobility within Belgium and between its regions | 37 |
| 17 | Comparison of the net replacement rates of unemployment benefits | 44 |
| 18 | Job search activities | 60 |

List of Tables

| 1 | Summary table: Reduction in the generosity of unemployment benefits and its aftermaths | 16 |
|---|--|----|
| 2 | Summary table: Reduction in the duration of unemployment benefits | 18 |
| 3 | Summary table: Economic situation in Belgium and Germany | 21 |
| 4 | Evolution of the unemployment rates in the different regions in Belgium | 24 |
| 5 | Comparison of mismatches in 2016 between Belgium and Germany | 25 |
| 6 | Comparison of the long-term unemployed between Belgium and Germany | 27 |
| 7 | Comparison of people aged 55-64 on the labour market between Belgium and Germany . | 41 |
| 8 | Summary table: Labour market description of Belgium and Germany | 46 |
| 9 | Summary table: Effects on job search behaviour in Belgium and in Germany | 50 |
| | | |

1 Introduction

Labour market policies are introduced in order to fight unemployment. They are separated into active and passive labour market policies. In the former case, the goal is to actively push job seekers back into employment, by for example providing training, whereas the latter policies do not pursue this aim.

First of all, it is necessary to clarify who is considered as unemployed and consequently targeted by these policies. According to the ILO (International Labour Organisation), the criteria are that a person aged 15 or older must be without a job, immediately available to start working within the following two weeks and looking for a job.¹ If this is the case, the unemployed need to cooperate with the employment agency and they determine together what programme would fit the best to their individual situation.

The unemployed will benefit from job search assistance, guiding them to the most suitable job offers. In some cases, they might participate in education and training programmes in order to improve or update the skills and know-how and eventually even receive a subsidy serving as a financial incentive to search harder and accept an offer quicker. However, the effects of these programmes might be ambiguous and heterogeneous. For instance, training programmes can have a lock-in effect, especially if their duration is long. So, in the short-term, the effect on reemployment might be negative, and in the long-run, it will be positive. Differences between the various groups of participants can also be noticed.

During the entire search process, the unemployed, who are eligible, receive benefit payments as a compensation for the wage that they had before losing the job. Unemployment benefits are part of the passive labour market policies and their goal is to provide a financial insurance against involuntary unemployment (Solon, 1979). These benefits, however, can be expected to have controversial effects. On the one hand, they might increase the unemployment duration because the unemployed probably would look for a better job, even though they might have a job offer or they eventually just substitute work by leisure. On the other hand, job quality might be impacted by the duration and generosity of the benefit payments.

Theory expects, as explained by Lichter (2016), that the higher the unemployment insurance and the longer its duration are, the more the job search efforts will be reduced. The reservation wage also has an important role in the job search behaviour. It is the "minimum acceptable wage" that a firm must offer such that an individual accepts the job proposal (Deschacht & Vansteenkiste, 2021). It is the wage at which an unemployed is indifferent between working and continuing to search for a job (Mortensen, 1986).

Moreover, differences between countries can be spotted. For instance, Krueger and Mueller (2010) differentiate between European countries and the United States. In the US, the unemployed spend more time on job search than the average European. This goes from 41 minutes on weekdays in the US to an average of 12 minutes on weekdays for Europe. The authors explain that this difference is due to the fact that unemployment benefits in Europe are more generous than those in the US.

So, what might be possible behavioural adaptations when unemployment benefits would decrease or be completely cut? Cahuc and Lehmann (2000) state that France has since 1993 a system in which unemployment insurance pays high compensations at the beginning, but the amount declines over time. Therefore, the longer a person is unemployed, the lower unemployment benefits will become. They find that when taking wages endogenously, reducing unemployment benefits would have very costly effects on the long-term unemployed individuals. Abbring, Berg, and Ours (2005) illustrate the example of the Netherlands, where the system introduces sanctions when people exploit the generosity of the benefit payments. In this case, benefits will be cut by a certain percentage and a certain period of time.

¹Information extracted from https://www.insee.fr/en/metadonnees/definition/c1129

The next section presents some reasons leading to unemployment, before moving to the different labour market policies, that have the aim to reduce the unemployment rate. A distinction between active and passive labour market policies will be done. The literature review will end with a presentation of the job search behaviour. Section 3 is the empirical part. The aim here is to do a comparative analysis of Belgium and Germany. For this, the economic situation of both countries will be presented and a short comparison follows right afterwards. This structure is taken over for the remaining empirical part. Following the economic situation, the labour market will be presented. Initially, some insights into the labour market legislation will be given, since they define the main labour market policies that should be discussed. If available, some evaluations of these policies will be given. A presentation of the unemployment compensation scheme in both countries will follow. The last subsection gives an overview of the effects on job search behaviour. In this part, the focus will be put on the effects of a cut in the generosity and duration of the unemployment benefits. The fourth section consists in a discussion and giving potential policy recommendations. Section 5 gives some concluding remarks.

2 Literature review

This section starts with a presentation of some of the reasons for the existence of unemployment. Then, a subsection presenting several labour market policies follows, doing a distinction between active and passive labour market policies. This will finally lead to the part about job search behaviour, which will focus mostly on the effects of unemployment benefits. First comes a presentation of job search from a general point of view and then follows a deeper discussion about what happens if the generosity and duration of the unemployment benefits are reduced.

2.1 Reasons for unemployment

The labour market does not necessarily need to be at its equilibrium. It might happen that there is a discrepancy between supply and demand, which can lead to unemployment or open vacancies (Wieling & Borghans, 2001). Nevertheless, even if the labour market is at its equilibrium, unemployment will still persist because of the so-called "natural unemployment rate" or "structural rate of unemployment." This is the equilibrium point between the wage-setting and price-setting curves. It depends on the unemployment benefits and the legislation (Blanchard, Amighini, & Giavazzi, 2013). It is the lowest possible unemployment rate that can be reached. Even if enough vacancies exist, new entrants into the labour market will first need to search for work for at least a short period of time until they get employed. Furthermore, because of job destruction and job creation, individuals keep being mobile on the labour market. This subsection will cover the following elements: demography, education and formation, wages, economic cycles, job shortages and skills mismatches and technological change and sectorial restructuration.

2.1.1 Demography

Recently, the role of demography is increasing in the context of unemployment because the population in industrialised countries is getting older. The baby-boom generation has nowadays the age to retire (Grenier, 2009; Maroy, 2008; Rayou, 2009). The complexity of this subject is that if they would retire, a huge amount of jobs would become vacant and one might think that this is good for unemployment because more jobs would be available for job seekers. However, this will be important when discussing the so-called "job shortages" (Handel, 2003; McGuinness, Pouliakas, & Redmond, 2018; Wets & De Bruyn, 2011) because there are not enough young people to enter the labour market. Therefore, in order to avoid a too high outflow of old workers, some policies aim to raise the legal retirement age. This will have as a consequence that job seekers might become older on average. Since they usually have more difficulties in finding a new job, the unemployment rate is pushed upwards. So, some ambiguity can be seen in this complex topic and it is not clear what effect will dominate.

2.1.2 Education and formation

The educational system is not lined up well enough with the needs of the labour market. Employers often complain that graduating students are lacking job specific skills (Cappelli, 2015). Furthermore, school-leavers might accept jobs below their level of education and will probably end up in part-time jobs. Consequently, their hourly payment is lower. The number of hours worked and the hourly wage influence the monthly wage. Since both are lower, the monthly income will decrease as well (Wieling & Borghans, 2001).

When talking about training, firms could provide specific training to their newly hired employees, if they estimate their skills to be deficient. However, they often hesitate and do not provide training because they do not want to encounter costs of training under the uncertainty whether the employee will stay within the firm or not. Thus, employers try to avoid these specific training programmes and are reluctant during the hiring process. Moreover, since the skills required for jobs strongly affected by the

technological progress vary often and quickly, workers will be less likely to invest in training, which will decrease their access to these jobs (Brunello & Wruuck, 2019).

2.1.3 Wages

Over the last decades, the minimum wage has increased. This can be explained by the increase in the productivity of the firms, especially because they substitute labour with capital, since the costs for labour are higher than for capital, or when workers increase their efforts because they get a higher wage (Riley & Rosazza Bondibene, 2017). Therefore, if more capital is used instead of labour, unemployment can increase. It is also possible that employers prefer to hire more highly skilled workers in order to increase the productivity of the firms even more when using the new technology.

Figure 1 shows what happens when the minimum wage is increased, whereas labour demand and supply stay unchanged. The horizontal axis, denoted N, represents labour and the vertical axis W is the wage. The initial situation represents the equilibrium E^* between labour demand and supply (curves in black). The minimum wage is set such that it is equal to the equilibrium wage (blue line $W^* = W^m$). Imagining now that the minimum wage increases to $W^{m'}$, we notice that a discrepancy between labour demand and supply is created, if they stay unchanged. In that case, labour supply will be higher than labour demand, which will create unemployment, represented by ΔN .





Source: own creation

So, an increase in the wage is accompanied by a higher unemployment rate (Minford, 1983). The wage influences the decision of the employers to create vacancies and thus the number of job seekers to employ. Even though the wage has an impact on employers, it must be mentioned that the wage also influences the decisions of job seekers. For instance, if the unemployment benefits increase, the reservation wage of the unemployed increases as well (de Groot & van der Klaauw, 2019; Mortensen & Pissarides, 1999). Thus, high unemployment benefits imply less job creation (Mortensen & Pissarides, 1999).

Depending on the unemployment rate and on how strong the demand by employers is, the job seekers can have a more or less powerful position in the bargaining process. If the unemployment rate is low or the demand by employers is high, the job seekers can bargain more since they can find an alternative job quite easily (Mortensen & Pissarides, 1999). Conversely, if the unemployment rate is high, their bargaining power is low and they have to "take as given" what employers offer. Under these circumstances, a job seeker, who does not perfectly match the job requirements, can easily be replaced by another unemployed.

2.1.4 Economic cycles

Economic cycles affect the unemployment rate because they have an impact on job creation and job destruction. During an expansion, job destruction is lower than job creation, whereas while the economy is in a recession, job destruction is greater than job creation (Davis, Faberman, & Haltiwanger, 2006; Desjardins & Rubenson, 2011). So, if the economy goes well, each type of worker has more chances to find work thanks to job creation. Employers are less picky in the level of skills possessed by the job seekers (Murtin & Robin, 2018). In a recession, however, low-skilled workers will face difficulties to find a job because their productivity will be too low. Therefore, they will stay longer unemployed or eventually be laid-off if they have been employed (Murtin & Robin, 2018). In general, it can be said that when the economy goes well, the unemployment rate is usually lower. Conversely, in times of a recession, the unemployment rate increases, since the low-skilled workers will be laid-off and have issues to find a new job.

2.1.5 Job shortages and skills mismatches

This leads to the next point, where the matching of skills and vacancies will be discussed in more details. As a short foreword, it must be mentioned that the matching is an important factor in order to get a job seeker more easily back into a job and to keep the worker employed. The better the matching is, the more likely it is that the individual stays for a longer period active in that specific job, even if the economy turns into a recession (Murtin & Robin, 2018). This is why job shortages and skills mismatches need to be discussed.

2.1.5.1 Job shortages

First of all, the two concepts need to be differentiated. When talking about a job shortage, one takes into account a lack of qualified job seekers for a specific job (Burstedde et al., 2020; Cappelli, 2015; Cedefop, 2010; Haskel, 2001; Vollmer, 2015; Wets & De Bruyn, 2011). Economically speaking, this is equivalent to say that the demand for a certain skill by the employers is higher than the supply of that specific skill by the job seekers (Burstedde et al., 2020; Cedefop, 2015; Wieling & Borghans, 2001). So, there is a quantitative lack (Grenier, 2009) of job seekers with respect to the vacancies open to be filled.

2.1.5.2 Skills mismatches

Skills mismatches are considered as a source of unemployment, too. This concept takes into account several types of frictions. Before presenting them, the concept of a skill mismatch must be explained. As this term indicates, a skill mismatch is when the skills that a job seeker possesses are not suitable to what an employer is looking for and what is required for a job (Handel, 2003). This can lead to difficulties during the recruitment and prolong the whole process. The issue here is therefore of qualitative nature (Grenier, 2009), but quantitative mismatches can also be the origin of skills mismatches. As indicated, however, this concept is very broad and includes different types of frictions: horizontal mismatches, vertical mismatches, skills gaps and skills obsolescence (Cappelli, 2015; Cedefop, 2010, 2015; McGuinness, Pouliakas, & Redmond, 2017; McGuinness et al., 2018). What follows now will give a brief insight into the different types of skills mismatches and how they are

related to each other and to unemployment. Figure 2 illustrates the interconnections between job shortages and skills mismatches, which might make the understanding of these concepts easier.





Source: own creation, developed during the internship at IWEPS

Horizontal mismatch

The horizontal mismatch is when a job seeker has done studies in one field, but that these studies are not at all in line with the skills required for most vacancies. So, it is possible that the level required is suitable, but not the field of the skills (Battu & Bender, 2020; Cedefop, 2010; Sloane, 2014).

The issue here is that, if a job seeker has done studies in a field that is not linked to the domain of the skills required for a job, the employer will hesitate to employ that job seeker because it might be inefficient for him. This could incur costs to the firm to retrain that person. Furthermore, it is possible that this individual will change the job because the job might not be of high interest for the worker, since he or she is specialised in a different field. Thus, the employee will change the job until he or she finds the most suitable one (McGuinness et al., 2018; Sala, 2011). This explains the high labour flow at the beginning of the career of highly skilled workers.

Another scenario can be assumed. Many students do studies in one field, whereas a different field is asked by the employers. The issue arising is that the supply for one job will be in excess, whereas another one will be in shortage. This can push upwards the unemployment rate because not everyone will find a job in its domain of studies and employers will not be very pleased to organise retraining programmes, while knowing that the probability persists that the job seekers will leave after some time to look for a better match.

Vertical mismatch

Conversely to the previous part, a vertical mismatch, as its name indicates, is a mismatch in the level of the skills, whereas now, the field of studies and the domain of the skills required are in line with each other. This vertical mismatch can be identified by over- or under-education or over- or underqualification (McGuinness et al., 2018). Over-qualification is when a worker possesses higher skills than what is required to do the job. Vice versa, when an employee has less skills than what is needed to properly execute the tasks, he or she is underqualified (Desjardins & Rubenson, 2011). The link to unemployment in this case is that since the employer will notice that an individual is underqualified, the recruiter eventually will hesitate to employ the job seeker because the job-match quality would be low. Consequently, the productivity will suffer. On the other hand, if a job seeker is overqualified for a specific job, the employer might be pleased to employ that individual because the overqualified worker will be more productive than if his or her skills were exactly matching those required for the job (Cappelli, 2015; Kampelmann & Rycx, 2012; McGuinness et al., 2017, 2018; Sala, 2011). However, the satisfaction of that worker might be lower because he or she is not using all the skills possessed and so, as presented above, the labour flow might be higher at the beginning of the career.

Imagine many people are overqualified and employers employ them in order to benefit from their higher productivity. This would have as a consequence that the job seekers matching exactly with these jobs would not be employed, since the vacancies are already taken. So, they probably stay unemployed for a longer period of time. Furthermore, a too high over-qualification is a sign that the labour market is not allocating job seekers efficiently (McGuinness et al., 2018) and this would have costs for the entire economy (Mahy, Rycx, & Vermeylen, 2015).

Skills gap

The skills gap is a friction lying between the two previous ones. Precisely, it is "a misalignment between the skills required to do the job in the best possible way and the skills of workers" (Cedefop, 2015, p. 16). This can be viewed in two different ways. On the one hand, a skill gap can represent a "vertical gap" between the skill possessed by a job seeker and the one necessary for a job. In this case, an individual might be over- or underqualified (Sloane, 2014). On the other hand, a skill gap can be interpreted as a "horizontal gap." Here, it would represent the difference between the skill domain that an employer needs and the field of skills possessed by the job seeker. A gap between the skill supplied and the skill required can be found in both cases. It depends on the point of view one takes and the complexity of this friction is to clarify whether a skill gap is considered as a vertical or a horizontal mismatch.

Skills obsolescence

Skill obsolescence is when the skills possessed by workers lose in relevance (Allen & de Grip, 2012). This can have several reasons. Technological progress, for instance, plays an important role. When jobs are destroyed and others are created, new or more sophisticated skills are usually required. Consequently, the skills possessed by the workers are not up-to-date and they need to participate in some training programmes such that their skills are in line with the requirements of the job. This is also true for unemployed individuals. Their skills become obsolete, too, because of technological progress. Furthermore, the longer they are unemployed, the longer their skills are not being used. Consequently, the unemployed lose some know-how and their skills lose in value. Hence, they will have difficulties to find a new job and their recruitment takes longer because they need to be retrained (Handel, 2003) in order to be productive enough. Age is also a reason for skills becoming obsolete. In this case, physical competences suffer most, because the older a person is, the weaker the body is and the more often one becomes sick (McGuinness et al., 2017).

2.1.6 Technological change and sectorial restructuration

This leads to a last important reason for unemployment, which is tightly linked to skills mismatches. Technological progress probably leads to new skills, which means that employers need more skilled workers (Cappelli, 2015; Haskel, 2001) or workers with more sophisticated skills. The more individuals are skilled, the easier it will be for them to adapt to new technologies (Cedefop, 2015) and the more productive they will be (Mahy et al., 2015). However, the labour market needs some time to adjust to the new technologies. Consequently, the new skills required for some jobs are not immediately available among the job seekers (Brunello & Wruuck, 2019; Cedefop, 2015). Thus, due to a skills mismatch,

these jobs will stay vacant even though enough job seekers might be on the labour market. This is where education and training will have an important impact. If they are not in line with the technological progress, skills mismatches will increase, which will worsen the situation of job shortages (Desjardins & Rubenson, 2011), and therefore also lead to higher unemployment rates and prolonged unemployment spells.

However, the effect of technological progress on unemployment is ambiguous because, on the one hand, this phenomenon is a source of job creation, but, on the other hand, also of job destruction. The jobs destroyed are usually less productive, whereas the jobs created should be more efficient and provide a positive return, because they use the "new" technology (Cahuc, Carcillo, & Zylberberg, 2014, Chapter 10). Nevertheless, since the new jobs created often require new know-how and more skilled employees, the workers laid-off because of job destruction will eventually have some difficulties to find a new job, which might push upwards, at least for a short period of time, the unemployment rate.

2.2 Labour market policies

After having discussed some reasons that lead to unemployment, the following part is dedicated to the presentation of several labour market policies that have the goal to reduce unemployment. A distinction between active and passive labour market policies will be done. The part about *Unemployment benefits* will be elaborated a bit more, because the subsection *Job search behaviour* has the aim to focus on the effects of unemployment compensation schemes on job search efforts.

2.2.1 Active labour market policies

Active labour market policies (ALMPs) can be defined as "public interventions designed to improve the situation, in terms of employment and wages, of the unemployed and of disadvantaged populations" (Cahuc et al., 2014, Chapter 14, p. 902). Their aim is to reduce job search costs, to increase the individual productivity and to improve the matching between job seekers and open vacancies. It must be mentioned that, even though unemployment insurance is viewed as a passive labour market policy, the monitoring of the search behaviour and the sanctions provided should be considered as being part of the active policy (Cahuc et al., 2014, Chapter 14).

2.2.1.1 Job search assistance and monitoring

Job search assistance programmes, on the one hand, include a lower but indefinite compensation for the unemployed who are not eligible anymore or who have exhausted their unemployment benefits (Cahuc & Lehmann, 2000). On the other hand, they consist of regular meetings with an agent of an employment agency in order to guide the job seeker in the job search efforts (Cahuc et al., 2014, Chapter 14) and to find the best suitable work possible. If needed, they will also help the unemployed to organise their participation in training or formation sessions to improve the skills possessed. Hence, the chances to find a job should be improved because the matching between jobs and workers is better (Meyer, 1995). So, the unemployed should go back to employment faster.

Furthermore, monitoring is an important part of ALMPs. Labour agencies monitor in order to verify whether job seekers are eligible to receive unemployment benefits or whether they have to be sanctioned because they are, for example, not looking hard enough for a job. When job seekers do not meet their obligations, they first get a warning about the possibility of an upcoming sanction. Afterwards, the sanction will materialise. Cahuc et al. (2014, Chapter 14) explain that both, the threat and the sanction, have a positive impact on the exit rate from unemployment. Ashenfelter, Ashmore, and Deschênes (2005) find that a sanction has a positive effect on the reemployment rate. Even though Van den Berg and Klaauw (2019) also find that the unemployment spell duration is shortened thanks to monitoring, their results indicate that job seekers tend to accept a job with a lower wage. According to them, this should however be no issue if labour mobility is high.

2.2.1.2 Education and training

Classroom training, which is used most of the time, is usually of short duration. Its aim is to give individuals the possibility to acquire some general or specific skills necessary for a job or "to bring the knowledge of skilled employees up to date" (Cahuc et al., 2014, Chapter 14, p. 903).

Youngsters often have the opportunity to take part in an apprenticeship. This can be helpful for young people who left school prematurely and who have difficulties to find a job. An apprenticeship "generally lasts from 3 to 12 months, and at the end of that period the employer has the opportunity to hire the trainee on a permanent basis" (Cahuc et al., 2014, Chapter 14, p. 903). Like this, they get the skills that are important for the jobs and they increase their employment opportunities. The drawback of training programmes is that they have a so-called "lock-in effect" in the short-term because the unemployed search less for a job while they are enrolled in such a programme. Thus, in the short-term, the effect of training programmes can be negative on the reemployment rate (Cahuc et al., 2014).

Furthermore, a job seeker could acquire exactly the skills needed for a job if the firm offered training programmes. The complexity in this situation is that the worker could leave the firm after having finished the formation. This would incur the firm with costs, but no benefits. Employers therefore often hesitate to provide training to job seekers. In order to incentivise the employers to offer such programmes, the government could intervene with subsidies as compensation for these training costs (Brunello & Wruuck, 2019; Cappelli, 2015; Desjardins & Rubenson, 2011). Sooner or later, they have to train their workers anyway because the employees need training within the life cycle in order to keep their knowledge and skills up-to-date, otherwise they can become obsolete and useless for their job (Cahuc et al., 2014, Chapter 4).

2.2.1.3 Labour mobility and migration

Labour mobility, a potential factor to reduce unemployment, can be improved by increasing the amount of highly educated people. They learn languages with more ease and will be able to adapt to new environments (Cahuc et al., 2014, Chapter 4). When job seekers are more mobile within a region or a country, they have more opportunities to find a job that matches to their skills.

Migration will also decrease unemployment in the country from which the job seekers emigrate in order to fill the vacancies in another country (Cappelli, 2015), which usually is more developed. This phenomenon can often be seen in poorer or developing countries. It is known as "brain drain."² Even though one might think that if immigrants start to work in a local job, competing native unemployed would not find a job anymore and push upwards unemployment, Moreno-Galbis and Tritah (2016) find that the opposite happens. In the short run, immigrants push the employment rate of competing natives upwards. So, one can say that labour mobility and immigration represent possibilities to solve, at least partially, the "issue" of unemployment (Cahuc et al., 2014, Chapter 11).

European countries use migration since recent years more and more intensively. The European Union (EU) has implemented a programme called "Blue Card", which gives the non-EU job seekers the permission to start to work within the EU. This is useful when the local labour market suffers lacks in certain skills, which are available in foreign countries (Cedefop, 2015).

²Brain drain is when educated and skilled individuals from one country migrate to another country for a better job and living conditions (Source: https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/brain%20drain).

2.2.1.4 Short-time work

Short-time work is a good way to avoid increases in unemployment. This scheme is mostly used during recessions, as can be noticed for the recession of 2008-09 (Boeri & Bruecker, 2011; Hijzen & Venn, 2011) or also the recent Covid-19 crisis. During economic downturns, because of stronger employment protection, some countries³ like Belgium and Germany reduce the standard number of working hours in order to increase employment and to avoid a jump in unemployment during these periods (Cahuc et al., 2014, Chapter 2). So, the intention is to preserve jobs, even if a firm has financial issues or when the economy is in a recession. The workers also get financial support to compensate the reduced hours of work (Hijzen & Venn, 2011), such that they do not suffer a sharp reduction in the wage. Furthermore, if the employment protection is intense, high administrative costs can be avoided while using this system (Cahuc et al., 2014, Chapter 13).

If, however, this model is continuously used in "normal" economic times, there can be different effects. Employment might be pushed upwards, but the labour market segmentation eventually increases (Hijzen & Venn, 2011). The financial support will probably not be permanent. So, sooner or later, the wage of these workers will drop and the wage gap would increase.

2.2.1.5 Early retirement programmes

The legal system fixes a legal retirement age at which people can choose to retire or not. They can take their pension benefits before or after the legal age. This decision will impact the amount of benefits a retiree will receive, which will be represented either in a smaller or greater quantity. Financial incentives influence the decision of individuals at what age they will take the pension benefits (Cahuc et al., 2014, Chapter 1). The earlier they take their benefits and the less they lose when retiring earlier, the more they will be incentivised to stay unemployed when the potential benefit duration is extended. So, the shorter the period between unemployment insurance and pension benefits is, the less severe will be the consequences if the individual does not find a job before the benefits come to exhaustion (Lalive, van Ours, & Zweimüller, 2006).

Since older workers often have more difficulties to find a new job, because employers prefer to hire individuals that will stay longer with them, early retirement programmes could be an alternative to reduce unemployment. If the older workers, that do not find a job, could retire earlier, they would leave the labour market and thus the unemployment rate would decrease.

Having briefly approached the concept of financial incentives in the last paragraphs, the latter concept will now be covered.

2.2.1.6 Financial incentives

While discussing the situation of Belgium and Germany, the existence of different types of financial incentives will be identified. Some target the employers and others the unemployed (Cahuc et al., 2014, Chapter 14). Giving now a brief example, a first financial incentive would be a subsidy for the employers if they hire job seekers of a particular group. This payment can be temporary or permanent. Furthermore, individuals can get a financial aid for launching their own enterprise in order to become self-employed (Cahuc et al., 2014, Chapter 14).

³During the 2008-09 recession, 16 OECD countries used this short-time work programme in order to avoid an increase in unemployment. 11 of them used this scheme already before the crisis and the remaining five introduced this system during the financial crisis in 2007 (Hijzen & Venn, 2011).

Thus, what can be said so far, is that the government needs to intervene in order to create "the right incentives and institutional frameworks" (Cedefop, 2015, p. 18) such that the interest of employers as well as of job seekers is stimulated to participate in vocational education and training (VET) policies. VET is very important in the lifelong learning process as well as for providing job seekers with the skills required by the labour market.⁴ One can say that the higher the incentive is to look for a job, the higher is the probability that job seekers find a job more quickly (Meyer, 1995).

2.2.2 Passive labour market policies

Passive labour market policies include "unemployment compensation, payroll or employment taxes, and employment protection policy" (Mortensen & Pissarides, 1999, p. 2602). In contrast to ALMPs, passive ones aim at contributing financial help to the job seekers. They are not meant to push unemployed individuals back into employment. Even though other passive labour policies exist, this work will emphasize two aspects: employment protection and unemployment benefits. Including the part on the taxes would exceed the framework of this work.

2.2.2.1 Employment protection

Strict employment protection leads to high administrative costs when firing a worker. Consequently, the usage of temporary contracts becomes more intense (Hijzen, Mondauto, & Scarpetta, 2017). This leads to an increase in the labour turnover and eventually to more frequent unemployment spells. A consequence of this increase in the firing costs is that job creation is lower, such that less jobs will be destroyed. This would eventually lead to higher unemployment, since employers would hire less job seekers (Mortensen & Pissarides, 1999). Furthermore, Hijzen et al. (2017) find that lower productivity could be a potential consequence of temporary work. Since the labour mobility is higher, and so is the labour turnover, workers change their jobs more often and do not have time to properly acquire the skills and know-how needed to be the most productive and efficient at work.

The simultaneity of a high minimum wage and strict employment protection must lead to low exit rates from unemployment and the number of long-term unemployed might increase (Cahuc et al., 2014, Chapter 13). So, even though workers in permanent contracts benefit somehow from employment protection, those in temporary work suffer a loss in job security. Furthermore, it represents a cost for employers and for the economy in general (Hijzen et al., 2017).

2.2.2.2 Unemployment benefits

Job seekers usually receive unemployment benefits when they are considered as unemployed. They serve as a kind of insurance for being unemployed (Marinescu & Wolthoff, 2020). This, however, is not always the case and some criteria have to be fulfilled. The unemployed need to have worked for a certain period of time (Krueger & Mueller, 2010), meet their obligations or accept a job when they get an offer, otherwise their payments might be temporarily or permanently suspended. If they refuse to participate in a programme proposed by the employment agency, they also risk to be sanctioned (Cahuc et al., 2014, Chapter 5).

Unemployment benefits can be divided in two different groups. On the one hand, you have the *unemployment insurance benefits* and, on the other hand, the *unemployment assistance benefits*. The difference between these two payments lies in the duration of reception and the independency of past earnings. Whereas the unemployment insurance benefits are usually limited to a few months or years and depend on the last wage, the unemployment assistance benefits have no temporal limit and no dependency on earlier earnings, provided that the beneficiary is actively looking for a job and available for work (Cahuc et al., 2014, Chapter 13).

⁴Information taken from https://op.europa.eu/s/pttN

The unemployment benefit payments have two effects: the "liquidity effect" and the "moral hazard effect." If the gap between the benefits and the previously earned wage is small, the liquidity effect will imply that the individuals have no need to hurry to find a job in order to smooth their consumption. Furthermore, given that the agent receives benefits for staying at home and having time for leisure activities, this will lead to the so-called moral hazard effect⁵ (Cahuc et al., 2014, Chapter 13).

Since the 1980s, European countries have higher and more persistent unemployment rates than the US. Americans devote much more time and effort to job search than their European counterparts (Krueger & Mueller, 2010). This is due to the more generous and longer benefit payments in Europe (Katz & Meyer, 1990). The duration of the benefit payments often is more than twice as long in Europe than in the US. The authors suggest that the potential benefits duration has a bigger impact on the duration of unemployment spells than the level of the benefit payments. Furthermore, they suggest that the rate of unemployed individuals benefiting from unemployment insurance is lower in the US than in Europe.

The question now is whether the unemployment benefits should be steady or decreasing over time. Currently, the benefit payments are, most of the time, decreasing with the unemployment spell. This can be explained by the unemployment assistance, which can take over from unemployment insurance as soon as the job seeker is not eligible anymore to receive the benefits. Furthermore, if the unemployed are forward looking, a decreasing scheme of the benefit payments would give them the incentive to increase their job search efforts (Cahuc & Lehmann, 2000).

Not only the benefit scheme is important to be mentioned when unemployment benefits are discussed, but also the sanctions that can be applied in certain circumstances. Sanctions are planned in the case where an individual does not comply with the rules and they consist in a reduction in the unemployment benefits (Abbring et al., 2005). The benefit payments can either be suspended for a short period of time or the unemployed can be entirely excluded from receiving these payments, depending on the strictness of these sanctions (Cahuc et al., 2014, Chapter 13). An aftermath of a sanction can be an increased monitoring (Abbring et al., 2005). Individuals who have been sanctioned will work less hours and have a lower hourly wage than the unemployed, who have not suffered a sanction. Furthermore, the jobs they hold are less qualified (Cahuc et al., 2014, Chapter 14). The reason is that if a person suffers a cut in the benefit payments, he or she will probably have liquidity issues. This will force the individual to take the first job offer in order to avoid a decrease in his or her utility.

In general, one can say that, as stated by Card, Kluve, and Weber (2018), job search behaviour is affected in different ways, depending on the type of labour market policies, the economic situation and the personal traits of the individuals, like the age, the gender, the duration of the unemployment spell, etc. For instance, a brief example is that the impact of human capital programmes (i.e. training and private sector employment) on the long-term unemployed is positive, whereas work first programmes (i.e. job search and other programmes) are relatively better suited for the reemployment of disadvantaged individuals.

2.3 Job search behaviour

The goal of this part is to present the impacts on job search behaviour after the generosity and the duration of the unemployment benefits have been reduced. For this, first a general overview on job search behaviour is presented, whereas the end of this section will give a more elaborated presentation of the effects on job search behaviour after a reduction in the benefits, while doing a distinction of both previously mentioned situations.

⁵The "moral hazard effect" is when someone does not have the full responsibility for taking a risk, or when someone is exploiting a situation and taking advantage of someone else. Here, job seekers can take advantage of the benefits provided by the employment agency. Further information can be found under the following link: https://www.thebalance.com/moral-hazard-what-it-is-and-how-it-works-315515.

2.3.1 General presentation of job search

When talking about job search, one must first have a look on the criteria to fulfil to be considered as a job seeker. This activity includes reading ads, sending applications to firms, being registered at an employment agency, but also talking to family and friends (Krueger & Mueller, 2010; Mortensen, 1986).⁶ So, in order to be considered as a job seeker, one must invest time and money into this quest, instead of using them for other activities. Important differences exist between the US and Europe when considering the unemployment rate and its persistence (Katz & Meyer, 1990). The last part of this section will give some insights into the reasons for these differences and explanations on how job search works and how this is affected by the two different types of benefit reductions.

An individual looking for a job will invest less time in this activity than someone employed investing time in the tasks for the job. When looking for a job, one only has the chance to get an interview and, subsequently, eventually be hired. If, however, an individual is employed, he or she derives a wage (Cahuc et al., 2014, Chapter 5). Job search is mostly concentrated on weekdays and, those having lost their job, search on average more than re- or new entrants or those expecting to be recalled. A difference between individuals having a working partner and those living alone can also be noticed. Unemployment benefits will have more likely smaller effects on those having a secondary income source than those living on their own (Krueger & Mueller, 2010).

Not only those who are unemployed are searching for work, but it can also happen that those already being employed are looking for another job. Even though "on-the-job search" will not be covered in detail in this work, since the focus is put on job search behaviour of the unemployed, it is still important to be mentioned. Individuals look for a job, while being employed, if they expect that another job could contribute to a higher productivity and thus, to a higher wage. So, if the net present value of the expected wage of another job is higher than the net present value of the income of the current job, then the individual will look for a job while being employed (Mortensen, 1986).

Such financial incentives also play an important role in the decision whether to look for a job or to stay inactive. Thus, the unemployed continue to search for a job when their opportunity cost of being unemployed is higher than their opportunity cost of working (Mortensen, 1977). They will continue to look for work until a firm offers them a suitable and acceptable wage, i.e. the wage offered is higher than their reservation wage (de Groot & van der Klaauw, 2019).

A high reservation wage indicates that the job seeker is more selective. Although the worker-job matching quality outcomes can be improved, the duration of the unemployment spell might be prolonged. This reverts to the depreciation of the skills and work experience. So, the positive effect on the job quality by the higher reservation wage might be offset (de Groot & van der Klaauw, 2019). Thus, long-term unemployed have more difficulties getting back into employment, due to obsolescence of skills and work experience and signalling low motivation (Faberman & Haider Ismail, 2020). However, the longer individuals are unemployed, the more the reservation wage should decrease (Kasper, 1967; Katz & Meyer, 1990), because they are "liquidity constrained", i.e., the longer they are unemployed, the less money they have left. Moreover, long-term job seekers will not be able to take a credit anymore (Mortensen, 1986). Consequently, the unemployed will realise that the expectations about the employment opportunities were too optimistic and they finally accept a job with a lower quality (Faberman & Haider Ismail, 2020). Therefore, the reemployment opportunities as well as the job finding rate increase (Katz & Meyer, 1990).

⁶A list with further job search activities is included in Figure 18 in the Appendices.

However, the results by Kyyrä, Pesola, and Verho (2019) show that the longer a person is unemployed, the shorter will be the duration that an individual stays in the next job. This confirms that the job quality is lower. The peak in the exits of unemployment might not necessarily be due to the reservation wage, but mostly because job seekers accept jobs of lower quality and shorter duration when their benefits come to exhaustion. Furthermore, this might suggest that job seekers "store" jobs and wait until the moment when the benefit payments come to exhaustion, before accepting them (Kyyrä et al., 2019). The search effort increases as well (de Groot & van der Klaauw, 2019), because the individuals do not want their utility to decrease.

Unemployment benefits seem to have a negative effect on job search. The more generous they are, the lower will be the incentives of the unemployed individuals to look for a job (Boone & van Ours, 2012; de Groot & van der Klaauw, 2019; Faberman & Haider Ismail, 2020; Katz & Meyer, 1990; Murtin & Robin, 2018), because the difference between the wage that they received and the unemployment benefits that they obtain is smaller. Therefore, the expected search duration increases when the benefits are more generous, because the disutility of being unemployed decreases (Mortensen, 1977). This can either be used to find a more adequate job or "to substitute leisure for work" (Solon, 1979, p. 247). Thanks to the benefit payments, job seekers are not forced to accept the first offer they get, if they assume that this proposal is "ill-suited" for them (de Groot & van der Klaauw, 2019). It must be mentioned, though, that the unemployed receiving unemployment benefits search more than those who already exhausted the benefit payments (Faberman & Haider Ismail, 2020). Although generous benefits reduce the incentive to search, it seems that the search intensity is still higher while receiving benefit payments compared to when getting nothing at all (Krueger & Mueller, 2010).

Even though these payments are generally not permanent, but limited to a few months or years, some rare countries represent an exception, like for example Belgium, where the unemployment insurance period is not limited in time (Cockx, Dejemeppe, & Van Der Linden, 2011; Cockx & Ries, 2004; Schmieder & von Wachter, 2016).⁷ In the US, the unemployment benefits are generally limited to 26 weeks (six months) (Faberman & Haider Ismail, 2020) and it clearly can be noticed that shortly before unemployment benefits come to exhaustion, the amount of time spent on job search increases tremendously (Krueger & Mueller, 2010; Mortensen, 1977). Several authors (see e.g., Card, Chetty, & Weber, 2007; Katz & Meyer, 1990; Kyyrä et al., 2019; Meyer, 1990; Moffitt, 1985) talk about exit rate spikes just before the date when the benefit payments exhaust. This is also called the "hazard rate" (Card et al., 2007). After that date, the exit rate drops again (de Groot & van der Klaauw, 2019). Card et al. (2007) find that the unemployment exit hazard is lower than the reemployment rate. This indicates that, when the benefits come to exhaustion, some individuals leave the labour market and others participate in a training programme. However, there seems to be no change in the job search behaviour of those who are ineligible for unemployment insurance (Cahuc et al., 2014, Chapter 5).

Despite many authors having discussed a spike in the exit rate, rare are those clearly explaining the reasons behind this phenomenon. According to Mortensen (1977), if income and leisure are substitutes, a decrease in the income would lead to a decrease in leisure. However, it was shown that, according to theory, the opposite is true. Leisure and income are complements, i.e. if income decreases, leisure increases. Krueger and Mueller (2010) suggest that this decrease in the job search effort, after the benefits came to exhaustion, could be due to discouragement because they did not find a job, even though they increased their search efforts before the benefits have come to exhaustion. Boone and van Ours (2012) identify differences in the spikes between long-term jobs and temporary jobs. It seems that "temporary jobs are less likely to generate benefit expiration spikes in the transition rate than permanent jobs" (Boone & van Ours, 2012, p. 424). They discover that the exit rate for temporary jobs is higher within the first months of an unemployment spell, whereas the exit rate for permanent jobs is lower at the beginning of these periods. This supports the existence of a higher exit hazard for permanent jobs when benefits come

⁷In order to get more detailed information about the benefit payments in Belgium, the following site is very useful: https://www.cgslb.be/fr/allocations-de-chomage.

to exhaustion and suggests that it is easier to delay the date of reemployment. Nevertheless, temporary jobs also show an exit spike, even if smaller, at the moment of benefit exhaustion. Boone and van Ours (2012) state that it is the acceptance of a delay between finding a job and starting to work in this job that is leading to a benefit spike shortly before the exhaustion of the unemployment benefits. A long-lasting job has a higher value to the firm, so the job seeker can bargain a longer delay before the starting date of the job. This could explain why there is a difference in the exit rate spikes between permanent jobs and temporary jobs.

Last but not least, the job seekers that are temporarily laid off, are those anticipating to be recalled by their previous employer (Burdett & Mortensen, 1980). They are expected to put lower efforts into job search (Krueger & Mueller, 2010) because most of them are waiting to be rehired subsequently. Thus, they do not look for an alternative job. They also are aware that employers often rehire individuals who already have some experience rather than new entrants without job specific skills (Burdett & Mortensen, 1980). Consequently, the reservation wage of those expecting to be recalled is higher. However, the longer the unemployment spell is, the more the reservation wage declines because each period that an unemployed did not get a recall lowers the likelihood of being called back (Katz, 1986), for the same reasons as discussed earlier.

Having discussed in a more "general" way how job seekers behave, the remaining of this section will focus more on a reduction in the benefits. This can be separated into two approaches: a cut in the generosity of the benefits and a cut in the duration of the unemployment insurance. The end of this section consists in presenting the effects on job search behaviour in both cases.

2.3.2 Reduction in the generosity of benefits

The longer the unemployment spells are, the more the unemployment benefits decrease. Furthermore, several studies (i.e., Boone and van Ours (2012); de Groot and van der Klaauw (2019); Katz and Meyer (1990)...) found that the more generous unemployment benefits are, the lower will be the incentive to intensively search for a job.

As mentioned previously, if job seekers do not meet their obligations in terms of job search efforts or accepting suitable job offers or training programmes organised under ALMPs, they might be sanctioned by a temporary benefit exclusion (Busk, 2016). However, this does not necessarily mean that the period of benefit payments is reduced when an individual is penalised. It can simply be "postponed by the period of the sanction" (Busk, 2016, p. 160). If a person repeatedly fails to meet the obligations required to be eligible for unemployment benefits, or if a person is a long-term unemployed or a youngster, Busk (2016) explains that the sanctions can be stricter.

Lalive, van Ours, and Zweimüller (2005) estimate that right after a sanction has been imposed, job search increases tremendously. The unemployed, who have been sanctioned, increase their job search efforts because the utility in being unemployed has decreased. Moreover, those who have not suffered a cut in benefits so far also increase the job search intensity because the requirements are stricter (Lalive et al., 2005). Job seekers try to avoid a decrease in the value of being unemployed. When the sanction approaches the end, they expect the job search efforts to decrease gradually over time. On top of this, Lalive et al. (2005) and Boone, Sadrieh, and van Ours (2009) state that a threat of an upcoming sanction, after there has been an infringement in the obligations in the job search, already has a positive effect on the unemployment exit rate. Busk (2016) also finds that stricter sanctions have a more positive effect on the reemployment. The unemployed also get into education, participate in ALMPs or leave, sometimes only temporary, the labour market. So, a benefit reduction does not only lead to increased exits from unemployment to employment, but also into training programmes or even out of the labour market.

When a person has been sanctioned, not only his or her benefit payments will be suspended for a certain period of time, but the monitoring by the employment agency will eventually be more intense. Furthermore, it seems that monitoring has a strong impact on the job search behaviour of the individuals and the reemployment rate (Abbring et al., 2005). The stronger the monitoring of job search efforts is, the higher is the pre-sanction exit rate from unemployment (Lalive et al., 2005).

Reducing the generosity of the unemployment benefits has a positive impact on the unemployment rate. As already indicated earlier, the more generous the unemployment insurance is, the longer and more persistent the unemployment spells will be (Katz & Meyer, 1990). Identically to a reduction in the generosity of benefits, sanctions can be a good way to decrease the duration of the unemployment spells, because the value of being unemployed drops if the benefit payments are suspended for a job seeker. During the sanction period, the reservation wage decreases and the job search efforts increase, which pushes the reemployment rate upwards. Since the individual knows the length of the sanction period, this behaviour would only be temporary. As soon as the sanction has reached its end, the job seeker will decrease the efforts in looking for a job and the reservation wage increases again (Busk, 2016). It is possible, though, that the sanction would have a permanent positive effect on the job search behaviour (Abbring et al., 2005; van den Berg, van der Klaauw, & van Ours, 2004) because the monitoring would be stricter and the job seeker wants to avoid to be sanctioned again in the future.

Furthermore, de Groot and van der Klaauw (2019) show that the stronger the reduction in unemployment benefits is, the higher will be the exit rate out of unemployment, because the reduction in the wage would be sharper for these individuals. Boone et al. (2009) also find that a reduction in the unemployment benefits, as well as a system including sanctions, have a positive effect on the probability of accepting a job. However, they mention that these effects depend on the sanction system and on the offered wage. Nevertheless, it seems that sanctions have most of the time an important impact on the probability to accept a job.

According to Katz and Meyer (1990) the effect of a reduction in the level of benefit payments on the job search behaviour seems to be smaller than the effect of reducing their duration, which leads to the next point.

| Author | Policy/Element | Effect | | |
|-------------------------------|-------------------------|---|--|--|
| A11 (2005) | Sanctions | Long-term positive effect on the reemployment rate | | |
| Abbring et al. (2005) | Monitoring | Positive effect on the job search behaviour and the reemployment rate | | |
| D (1 (2000) | Sanctions | Positive effect on the probability of job acceptance | | |
| Boone et al. (2009) | Benefit reduction | Positive effect on the probability of job acceptance | | |
| Busk (2016) | Sanctions | Positive effect on the reemployment rate while the sanction is "active"; when the sanction period is over, job search decreases | | |
| Lalive et al. (2005) | Monitoring | High pre-sanction exit rate from unemployment | | |
| van den Berg et al. (2004) | Sanction and monitoring | Sanction might have a positive effect on the job search behaviour in the long run, because of stricter monitoring in the aftermath | | |

Table 1: Summary table: Reduction in the generosity of unemployment benefits and its aftermaths

Source: own creation

2.3.3 Reduction in the duration of benefits

As has been seen so far, unemployment spells usually are limited in time and therefore have an exhaustion date. This induces a peak in the unemployment exit rate shortly before that moment (Boone & van Ours, 2012). The job finding rate is the highest during the month before as well as after the benefits come to exhaustion. According to job search theory, if the duration of unemployment benefits is extended, the length of unemployment spells should increase and the reception of unemployment insurance should be prolonged (Lichter & Schiprowski, 2021). So, the job finding rate decreases. This is however not problematic, if the worker-job matching quality is improved. Nevertheless, de Groot and van der Klaauw (2019) state that the longer a person is unemployed, the more the skills will depreciate and consequently, his or her job opportunities will decline.

If, conversely, the unemployment benefit duration is shortened, the reservation wage of the job seekers is expected to decrease. This would induce that they accept job offers more easily and quickly, i.e. the unemployment spell decreases. Especially "workers facing rapid depreciation of employment opportunities" (Cottier, Degen, & Lalive, 2020, p. 660), due to for example skills obsolescence or deterioration of the motivation, have higher chances that their unemployment duration is reduced when the potential benefit duration is shortened (Cottier et al., 2020). Thus, since they are somehow forced to find a new job more quickly in order to not get into financial troubles, the match quality eventually deteriorates.

After a reform in 2003 in Switzerland, the unemployment benefit duration has been shortened from 24 months to 18.5 months "for job seekers younger than 55 years" (Cottier et al., 2020, p. 660). Since the unemployed accepted job offers faster, employment increased. Furthermore, conversely to what is expected, it seems that the unemployed finding a new job quickly earn a higher wage during up to two years after they have been reemployed (Cottier et al., 2020).

In 2011 was the first time that several US states cut the duration of unemployment benefits due to low reserves after the financial crisis in 2007 (Johnston & Mas, 2020). The authors find that a cut in the unemployment benefits will lead to a shorter unemployment duration for the short-term unemployed. Hence, job search has probably increased. Nevertheless, the effects for the long-term unemployed are not very clear-cut and it seems that a cut in the benefits does not have any effect on their reemployment rate (Johnston & Mas, 2020).

In line with what theory predicts, van Ours and Vodopivec (2006) find that unemployment spells decrease when the duration of benefit payments is shortened. Marinescu and Skandalis (2021) estimate that job search intensity stays relatively high during the four quarters following the exhaustion of unemployment benefits. Moreover, van Ours and Vodopivec (2006) state that the more the duration of unemployment benefits is reduced, the stronger will be the incentive to find a new job faster. Thus, the exit rate from unemployment is higher as well. Since the exit rate increases, the job seekers are unemployed for a shorter duration. This has as a consequence a smaller depreciation of the skills. So, their job opportunities do not drop as much as they would otherwise (de Groot & van der Klaauw, 2019). The job-matching quality would in this case not suffer too much. However, van Ours and Vodopivec (2008) find that, even though the unemployment benefits are reduced, this has no effect on the quality of the post-unemployment job match. Despite the previous results, the estimations by Marinescu and Skandalis (2021) indicate that the job quality could suffer a decrease in the potential benefit duration. The shorter the duration is, the faster the job seekers want to find a new job. This could result in accepting jobs with a lower wage and requiring less skills than possessed by the individual. At the end, the satisfaction of the employee would decrease and the probability that the worker stays employed in this job only for a short period of time increases. Consequently, the contract stability decreases (Marinescu & Skandalis, 2021), and so the matching quality between the worker and the job.

| Author | Effect |
|---------------------------------------|---|
| Cottier et al. (2020) | Shorter unemployment spells; higher income during the first two years after reemployment |
| de Groot and van der Klaauw (2019) | Shorter unemployment spells, smaller depreciations of skills, no big impact on job quality |
| Johnston and Mas (2020) | Shorter unemployment for the short-term unemployed; unclear effect on individuals in long-term unemployment |
| Marinescu and Skandalis (2021) | High job search intensity during 4 quarters after UB exhaustion; negative impact on job quality (low wage, skills mismatch, contract instability) |
| van Ours and Vodopivec (2006) | Shorter unemployment spells; the more UB is reduced, the stronger is the incentive to find a job |
| van Ours and Vodopivec (2008) | Shorter unemployment spells, but no impact on job quality |

| Table 2: Summary | table: | Reduction | in the | duration | of unemp | lovment | benefits |
|------------------|----------|-----------|--------|----------|----------|------------|----------|
| raoie 2. Samma | i cuore. | recaction | in the | aaranon | or anomp | i o j mone | cononics |

Source: own creation

3 Empirical part

This section consists in analysing Belgium and Germany. In the case of Belgium, the focus will be sometimes set on Wallonia. First of all, in order to have some background information, the economic situation in both countries will be presented. However, since this is not a main element of this topic, this part is kept relatively short. A description of the labour market, where the unemployment situation, the reasons for unemployment, the labour market policies and the unemployment compensation are presented, will follow. Finally, job search behaviour in both cases will be analysed. Throughout the whole section, the most relevant elements will be picked and a comparative analysis will be done.

3.1 Economic situation

Belgium

"Belgium is a federal state composed of three regions" (Fonder, Lejeune, & Tarantchenko, 2019, p. 3), the Flanders, Brussels and Wallonia. Like other central European countries, Belgium is an industrialised country. Brunet et al. (2020) present that, in 2017, exports grew by around 5.5% and imports by a bit more than 4%. Therefore, the Belgian gross domestic product (GDP) can be considered as relatively dependent on international trade and so, the country can be viewed as a small open economy. Wallonia is the region having the lowest degree of international openness. Other regional disparities, caused by historical events, can be found, like differences in economic growth, the creation of jobs, etc.⁸

Having a look at Figure 3, we realise that the economic growth was most of the time at around 1.5% to 2%. Two exceptional periods can be spotted: the financial crisis in 2008 and the Covid-19 pandemic since 2020. Both drops confirm the strong dependency on international trade. Especially during the last crisis, the uncertainty about the future, provoked by the lockdowns and the sanitary situation, led to a decrease in demand and the international trade. Production came therefore almost to a standstill. The aftermath of this is clearly depicted by the decline in GDP of 6.3% in 2020.

Thanks to the implementation of a new accounting law in 2010, the expenses in research and development (R&D) are included in the investments. Thus, the investments increased, which also pushes upwards the economic growth (Brunet et al., 2020). However, this growth slowed down in 2018, which can be explained by a slowdown in international trade, and consequently less exports (OECD, 2020a). This again shows how dependent the Belgian economy is on international trade. The largest decline could be seen in Wallonia, where the growth went from 2.3% to 1.3% between 2017 and 2018.

Germany

When talking about the German economy, one notices also regional disparities due to historical events, which will not be analysed in detail in this work. One should keep in mind, though, that after World War II, West Germany was under the influence of the capitalism by the United States, France and the United Kingdom. This allowed West Germany to have a good economic expansion, whereas East Germany, under the influence of the communism, had a poor economic development. Even after the reunification of Germany, economic and labour market discrepancies between West and East Germany can be identified, because many individuals living in the eastern part migrated to West Germany in order to start a new and better life (Kampmann, n.d.).

⁸Brunet et al. (2020) provide a detailed description of Wallonia and the differences with respect to the other Belgian regions. In order to not exceed the given framework, this short presentation of the economy in both countries should be sufficient for the understanding of the following parts.



Figure 3: Annual economic growth in Belgium between 2000 and 2020

Source: own creation, Data extracted from World Bank (Dataset: World Development Indicators)

Figure 4: Annual economic growth in Germany between 2000 and 2020



Source: own creation, Data extracted from World Bank (Dataset: World Development Indicators)

Germany is also known for the huge amount of small and medium enterprises (SMEs). This induces the need for a huge amount of working force in order to satisfy the labour demand and the proper functioning of the firms. Thanks to the generally high qualifications of the workers and the interconnection of the skills, Germany could deal, from the labour market perspective, relatively well with the financial crisis in 2008 (Bußmann, Flake, & Seyda, 2014). The German economic growth, as illustrated in Figure 4, was affected very negatively by the financial crisis and saw its GDP decline by almost 6%. The pandemic, as in the case of Belgium, also has a huge negative impact on economic growth because of the lockdowns and the uncertainty about the future. The German GDP declined by 4.9%, compared to a decrease of more than 6% in Belgium.

After the financial crisis, the German economy had a continuous positive economic growth until 2019. Nevertheless, it decreased slowly from year to year because the German industry had some weaknesses. Initially the growth was at around 2% in 2014, but in 2019 it reached only 0.6% anymore. International trade decreased due to less favourable economic conditions in the industrial context (Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Energie, 2020). This can be explained by the fact that Germany is a big country exporting relatively much. Therefore, as in the case of Belgium, the German economy depends strongly on international trade.

Comparison

Having presented the economic situation of both countries, we notice that regional disparities can be found in both of them. In Belgium, the Walloon region is struggling to pick up the economic backwardness and in Germany it is the eastern part of the country. Both of them managed to deal more or less well, from a labour market perspective, with the financial crisis in 2008. After the crisis, both countries had a good economic growth until around 2018-2019. Since both depend on international trade and because the international market worked less efficient around that period due to some uncertainties, economic growth was lower in both countries.

| Belgium | Germany |
|---|---|
| Regional discrepancies due to historical events | Regional discrepancies due to historical events |
| Small open economy | Large open economy |
| Depends on international trade | Depends on international trade |
| Hit by financial crisis in 2008, strong drop in GDP | Hit by financial crisis in 2008, severe drop in GDP |
| Severe decline in GDP caused by Covid-19 crisis | Severe decline in GDP caused by Covid-19 crisis |

Table 3: Summary table: Economic situation in Belgium and Germany

Source: own creation

3.2 Labour market

3.2.1 Unemployment situation

Belgium

The objectives of the Lisbon treaty have been fixed in 2000 and one of their targets is that the European countries should reach an employment rate of at least 70%. Considering Figure 5, it can be seen that Belgium never reached this target over the whole time period. Even though Belgium still did not reach the 70% target by 2020, the country is getting closer to it, i.e. between 2018 and 2019, the employment rate went from 64.5% to 65.3%. In 2020, however, due to the Covid-19 crisis, the employment rate decreased slightly and reached 64.7% (Vander Stricht & Henry, 2021).





Source: Tradingeconomics.com | Eurostat⁹

⁹Graph extracted from https://tradingeconomics.com/belgium/employment-rate

Figure 6 depicts that the unemployment rate moves most of the time within a range of more or less 6.5% and 8.5% between 2000 and 2015. Afterwards, the unemployment rate decreases tremendously until it reaches 5.4% in 2019. 2020 indicates a small increase in the unemployment rate, which is due to the Covid-19 crisis. Taking a closer look on the situation of Wallonia, Vander Stricht and Henry (2021) present that the Walloon region has a higher unemployment rate than Belgium in general, i.e., it is higher than in Flanders, but lower than in Brussels, as can also be seen on Figure 7. The Walloon unemployment rate was at 8.5% in 2018 and went to 7.4% in 2020, as shown in Table 4.



Figure 6: Evolution of unemployment in Belgium

Source: own creation, Data extracted from OECD.Stat (Dataset: Short-Term Labour Market Statistics)

Even though the unemployment rate was at around 8.5% between 2013 and 2015, the number of vacancies grew during that time, as it is depicted on Figure 8 on page 25. This phenomenon is quite counterintuitive. However, the skills mismatches and job shortages might be the reason behind this. As discussed earlier, it is possible that the skills required and supplied do not match. In this case, there might be a quantitative or qualitative mismatch. Furthermore, it can be seen that after 2015, the number of vacant jobs continued to increase until around 2019, then it decreased a little bit until 2020, before skyrocketing in the first quarter of 2021. This decrease can be explained by the lockdowns due to the Covid-19 pandemic, whereas the peak at the beginning of 2021 shows that the economy starts to recover and that new jobs are created, which is a common phenomenon after a crisis.



Figure 7: Unemployment rates in the different regions of Belgium in 2020

Source: National Bank of Belgium¹⁰

| Year | Belgium | Brussels | Flanders | Wallonia |
|------|---------|----------|----------|----------|
| 2010 | 8.4 | 17.4 | 5.2 | 11.5 |
| 2011 | 7.2 | 17.1 | 4.3 | 9.5 |
| 2012 | 7.6 | 17.5 | 4.6 | 10.1 |
| 2013 | 8.5 | 19.3 | 5.1 | 11.4 |
| 2014 | 8.6 | 18.5 | 5.1 | 12.0 |
| 2015 | 8.6 | 17.5 | 5.2 | 12.0 |
| 2016 | 7.9 | 16.9 | 4.9 | 10.6 |
| 2017 | 7.1 | 15.0 | 4.4 | 9.8 |
| 2018 | 6.0 | 13.4 | 3.5 | 8.5 |
| 2019 | 5.4 | 12.7 | 3.3 | 7.2 |
| 2020 | 5.6 | 12.4 | 3.5 | 7.4 |

Table 4: Evolution of the unemployment rates in the different regions in Belgium

Note: Unemployment as a percentage of the active population aged 15 to 64 Source: own creation, Data extracted from the National Bank of Belgium

¹⁰Figure extracted the 07/07/2021 from https://www.nbb.be/fr/publications-et-recherche/evolutions-statistiques-de-lemploi/marche-du-travail/taux-de-chomage-dans

Figure 8: Evolution of vacancies in Belgium



Source: own creation, Data extracted from Statbel¹¹

Table 5 indicates that 28% of the workers were not employed in a job that is linked to their field-of-study, i.e., there was a horizontal mismatch. Considering now the qualification mismatch, the table shows that 34.5% of the workers have been affected by this mismatch in 2016. The qualification mismatches included 23.8% of workers who were underqualified and 10.6% who were overqualified. In general, it can be said that the issue of vertical mismatches seems to be more relevant than horizontal mismatches. Even though the numbers in Table 5 represent percentages of workers, one can expect horizontal mismatches to be lower than vertical mismatches within the unemployed, too.

| Table 5: | Comparison | of mismatches | in 2016 between | Belgium and | Germany |
|----------|------------|---------------|-----------------|-------------|---------|
| | 1 | | | U | ~ |

| | Indicator (in %) | | | | | | | | | |
|---------|-------------------------|------------------------|------------------------|-------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Country | | | Qualification mismatch | | | | | | | |
| | Field-of-study mismatch | Qualification mismatch | Underqualification | Overqualification | | | | | | |
| Belgium | 28.0 | 34.5 | 23.8 | 10.6 | | | | | | |
| Germany | 20.1 | 37.2 | 19.7 | 17.2 | | | | | | |

Source: own creation, Data extracted from OECD.Stat (Dataset: Mismatch)

¹¹Data used from https://statbel.fgov.be/fr/themes/emploi-formation/marche-du-travail/emplois-vacants

The next step is to have a look on the situation of long-term unemployment in Belgium because, as has been discussed earlier, skills mismatches can lead to prolonged unemployment spells. Table 6 shows that the percentage of the individuals being unemployed since one year and more¹² is quite high. It lies at around 50% and Belgium is one of the 15 EU countries that had the highest amount of long-term unemployed among total unemployment in 2008 (Nevejan, 2009). After the financial crisis, this percentage decreased a little bit before increasing again in 2010 and reaching its peak in 2015 (at 51.7%). In 2020, a similar situation can be seen, where the percentage of the long-term unemployed with respect to all unemployed is at 41.6%. This can be explained by the implementation of different mechanisms, like for example partial unemployment, that helped to avoid a huge increase in the unemployment rate.

As mentioned in the literature review, the demographic evolution can be a reason for unemployment, depending on the policies implemented by the government. Figure 9 clearly shows that Belgium has a huge gap in the amount of elderlies and youngsters. An increasing trend can be seen for the individuals aged 50 and more, whereas the population aged 15 to 29 increased only slightly until 2010, before staying relatively constant until the end of the analysed period. In 2018, the number of people aged 50 and more is more than twice as high as the number of youngsters.



Figure 9: Demographic evolution in Belgium

Source: own creation, Data extracted from OECD.Stat (Dataset: Historical population)

¹²Generally, an individual is considered to be long-term unemployed if he or she has been unemployed for at least 2 years. Since this dataset includes the individuals unemployed since 1 year or longer, the percentage of long-term unemployment, as presented here, might be higher than it would be if only the individuals unemployed since 2 years or more had been taken into consideration.

| | | В | elgium | | | Germany | | | | | |
|------|-----------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|------------------------------|--------------------|-----------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|------------------------------|--------------------|--|
| | | | | | Dura | ation | | | | | |
| Time | < 1 month | > 1 month and < 3 months | > 3 month and < 6 months | > 6 month and < 1 year | 1 year and over | < 1 month | > 1 month and < 3 months | > 3 month and < 6 months | > 6 month and < 1 year | 1 year and over | |
| 2000 | 7.9 | 13.4 | 11.2 | 13.2 | 54.2 | 6.0 | 11.7 | 14.8 | 16.1 | 51.5 | |
| 2001 | 7.4 | 15.4 | 14.8 | 14.0 | 48.4 | 6.5 | 11.4 | 16.0 | 15.8 | 50.4 | |
| 2002 | 7.1 | 14.4 | 14.1 | 15.7 | 48.8 | 5.8 | 12.5 | 16.9 | 17.0 | 47.8 | |
| 2003 | 6.7 | 16.2 | 14.5 | 17.2 | 45.3 | 5.2 | 11.2 | 15.1 | 18.5 | 50.0 | |
| 2004 | 6.5 | 15.3 | 13.6 | 15.5 | 49.0 | 5.3 | 11.7 | 15.4 | 15.8 | 51.8 | |
| 2005 | 6.6 | 14.8 | 11.8 | 15.1 | 51.7 | 6.0 | 12.2 | 12.4 | 16.3 | 53.0 | |
| 2006 | 6.2 | 14.7 | 13.9 | 14.0 | 51.2 | 5.8 | 11.7 | 11.3 | 14.9 | 56.4 | |
| 2007 | 6.0 | 16.0 | 12.9 | 14.7 | 50.4 | 6.3 | 12.6 | 11.4 | 13.2 | 56.6 | |
| 2008 | 7.2 | 17.3 | 14.1 | 13.8 | 47.6 | 6.8 | 13.8 | 12.9 | 14.0 | 52.5 | |
| 2009 | 7.2 | 16.8 | 15.8 | 16.0 | 44.2 | 7.7 | 15.6 | 14.9 | 16.3 | 45.5 | |
| 2010 | 5.4 | 15.6 | 13.0 | 17.3 | 48.8 | 7.6 | 14.7 | 14.3 | 16.1 | 47.3 | |
| 2011 | 4.5 | 16.4 | 15.0 | 15.8 | 48.3 | 9.2 | 15.1 | 13.1 | 14.7 | 47.9 | |
| 2012 | 4.7 | 17.9 | 16.5 | 16.2 | 44.7 | 9.9 | 15.9 | 14.2 | 14.5 | 45.4 | |
| 2013 | 3.4 | 17.4 | 15.4 | 17.8 | 46.0 | 9.4 | 16.0 | 14.4 | 15.6 | 44.7 | |
| 2014 | 3.6 | 15.0 | 15.2 | 16.2 | 49.9 | 9.9 | 16.3 | 14.2 | 15.3 | 44.3 | |
| 2015 | 3.4 | 16.2 | 14.4 | 14.3 | 51.7 | 10.4 | 15.8 | 14.4 | 15.4 | 44.0 | |
| 2016 | 4.0 | 16.4 | 14.0 | 14.0 | 51.6 | 11.9 | 17.6 | 14.7 | 14.7 | 41.1 | |
| 2017 | 5.9 | 15.4 | 14.2 | 15.7 | 48.8 | 11.7 | 16.8 | 14.2 | 15.5 | 41.9 | |
| 2018 | 6.1 | 17.1 | 14.2 | 13.9 | 48.7 | 11.9 | 17.5 | 14.7 | 14.6 | 41.4 | |
| 2019 | 7.0 | 18.9 | 15.7 | 14.8 | 43.5 | 12.4 | 18.4 | 16.2 | 14.8 | 38.2 | |
| 2020 | 5.9 | 18.6 | 16.7 | 17.2 | 41.6 | | | | | | |

Table 6: Comparison of the long-term unemployed between Belgium and Germany

Note: percentage of unemployed among total unemployment Source: own creation, Data extracted from OECD.Stat (Dataset: Incidence of unemployment by duration)

Germany

When having a look at Figure 11 on the following page, it can be seen that at the beginning of the 2000s, the employment rate of Germany had a slightly decreasing trend and some seasonal fluctuations. After 2005, the employment rate starts to increase sharply. The 70% employment rate goal, fixed by the agreement of Lisbon, has been reached since around 2009 and the rate further increased until reaching approximately 77% in 2020.





Source: own creation, Data extracted from OECD.Stat (Dataset: Short-Term Labour Market Statistics)

Figure 10 indicates a huge increase in the unemployment rate between 2001 and 2005. This might be related to the introduction of the Hartz reforms between 2003 and 2005, because a result of them was the combination of unemployment benefits and social benefits (Sell, Becher, Oschmiansky, & Bersheim, 2020). Afterwards, the unemployment rate decreased continuously, except between 2008 and 2009, where a small rise in the rate can be seen. This is due to the financial crisis in 2008. This general strong decrease in the unemployment rate over that period is also called the "German labour market miracle" (Krebs & Scheffel, 2013). This intense decrease of the unemployment rate is estimated to be a result of the Hartz reforms that have been introduced between 2003 and 2005. Their aim is not only to reduce unemployment, but also to decrease the amount of job shortages and skills mismatches. In 2019, the German unemployment rate even reached 3.1%. Even though the data for 2020 are missing in the OECD database, it can be expected that the unemployment rate increases a little bit because of the pandemic and the lockdowns, but the increase should be relatively limited because Germany has a well developed model of short-time work, which is relatively efficient to avoid a huge increase in unemployment during periods of recessions.

Figure 11: Evolution of the employment rate in Germany



¹³Graph extracted from: https://tradingeconomics.com/germany/employment-rate

As mentioned earlier, the Cold War led to discrepancies between the regions in Germany. The western economy was quite prosperous, whereas the eastern one suffered a slowdown. Even since the reunification in 1990, the unemployment rate is higher in East Germany than in West Germany. Doing a north-south comparison, one notices that northern Germany has a higher unemployment rate than the southern regions of the country. All in all, as illustrated by Figure 12, the north-east of Germany has the highest unemployment rates and the south-west and south of the country have the lowest ones.

Figure 12: Unemployment rates in the different regions of Germany in 2017

< 6</p>
6
6

Arbeitslosenquote, Dezember 2017

Source: Kubis and Rebien (2019, Figure 4)

Considering the vacancies in Germany, relatively big fluctuations can be seen on Figure 13. From 2000 to 2004, the amount of vacant jobs decreased significantly and then increased until the financial crisis took place. In 2008 and 2009, this number decreased. After that crisis, the amount of vacancies more than doubled until 2018 and reached approximately the number of 800,000. This huge increase in the number of vacancies between 2009 and 2018 can be explained by the continuous decline in the unemployment rate. Since less job seekers are available on the market, the choice by employers is reduced. A slight decrease can be seen in 2019, which might be explained by the unfavourable situation on the international markets. The following year, a more drastic decline, caused by the Covid-19 pandemic, can be identified.

As discussed in the case for Belgium, Germany also had more qualification mismatches than fieldof-study mismatches in 2016. Table 5 on page 25 indicates that the former represented 37.2% of the workers and the latter were at 20.1% of the work force. Within the qualification mismatches, 19.7% of the German workers were underqualified and 17.2% were overqualified. Overall, the situation was more or less comparable to that of Belgium. It can be seen, though, that less workers were horizontally mismatched, whereas the percentage of vertical mismatches was slightly higher. German employers seem to have preferred to recruit overqualified workers, because this ratio was 6.6 percentage points higher in Germany than in Belgium. On the other hand, the percentage of underqualified workers was slightly lower than in Belgium.





Source: own creation, Data extracted from OECD.Stat (Dataset: Registered Unemployed and Job Vacancies)

Figure 14: Demographic evolution in Germany



Source: own creation, Data extracted from OECD.Stat (Dataset: Historical population)

Table 6 on page 27 shows that Germany had an even higher rate of long-term unemployed with respect to total unemployment compared to Belgium and it reached in 2006 its maximum of 56.6%. As in Belgium, the rate increased a little bit after the financial crisis, but then decreased without interruption until 2019 and reached 38.2%. As will be discussed later, the Hartz reforms decrease the generosity of unemployment benefits and sanctions become stricter. This might have impacted the long-term unemployment ratio over the years following these reforms.

In Germany, as in most developed countries, the population is becoming older. Thus, the demographic evolution is a source of labour market discrepancies. As can be seen on Figure 14, Germany also has, exactly as Belgium, a huge gap between the amount of elderlies and youngsters, which is even growing. The amount of older individuals is growing more or less constantly, whereas the number of young individuals is relatively constant and even showing a slightly decreasing trend. In 2018, exactly as in the case of Belgium, the number of elderlies is more than twice as high as the amount of youngsters.

Comparison

When comparing both countries, it is difficult to interpret the numbers of long-term unemployment correctly, because the legislation and policies are not the same, which leads to regulatory differences. Nevejan (2009) explains that, since in Belgium unemployment benefits are not limited in time, the unemployed will affirm that they are actively looking for a job, because this is a condition to be eligible for unemployment benefits. In Germany, the unemployment benefits for the long-term unemployed are not generous at all. So, the incentive to lie about the job search efforts is small. Consequently, the number of long-term unemployed is also smaller. Compared to Belgium, Germany faced in 2008 an even worse situation when considering the percentage of long-term unemployment (Nevejan, 2009).



Figure 15: Comparison of the unemployment rates of Belgium and Germany

Source: own creation, Data extracted from OECD.Stat (Dataset: Short-Term Labour Market Statistics)

Having a look at the unemployment rate in Belgium and Germany simultaneously, Figure 15 illustrates that the German unemployment rate was higher than the Belgian one until around 2010. Then, the German unemployment rate decreased, whereas the Belgian one stayed more or less constant until 2015 and decreased from that year onwards. A discussion of some labour market policies, that aim to reduce the unemployment rate, follows in the next part. Their effects will be presented if they are available.

Having presented the unemployment situation in Belgium and Germany, some of the labour market policies in both countries, aiming the reduction of unemployment, will be discussed.

3.2.2 Labour market policies

This part will start with a discussion of the labour market legislation of both countries in order to have some background information. Then, the most relevant labour market policies, including elements discussed in the literature review, will be presented.

3.2.2.1 General insights into the labour market legislation

Belgium

The federal government is responsible for the labour market policies. It creates the legislation and regulates the unemployment insurance system (Fonder et al., 2019). In Wallonia, the FOREM¹⁴ is in charge of organising "the regional public employment and training service" (Fonder et al., 2019, p. 3).

Some of the labour market policies are apprenticeships and training programmes, early retirement programmes, financial incentives when for example hiring a job seeker into a non-profit organisation, etc. These programmes are effective in reducing the unemployment rate. If, for instance, the training programmes are organised such that they are in line with the needs of the labour market, the job seekers should find work more easily. The early retirement programme is a bit paradoxical because on the one hand, older job seekers can leave the labour market earlier. On the other hand, however, if they do so, the issue of job shortages will grow because not enough young individuals enter the market.

Unemployment insurance has undergone some changes as well. Since 2004, unemployment benefits have been made indefinite in time for everyone, as long as job seekers meet the obligations of actively looking for a job. For this, a monitoring procedure has been implemented, which is called the "procédure d'Activation du Comportement de Recherche d'emploi (ACR)." This includes monitoring and sanctions, interviews or help with the job search (Cockx et al., 2011). This procedure aims to facilitate the access by job seekers into ALMPs.

Between 2015 and 2018, the so-called "Gouvernement Michel" implemented several reforms concerning the labour market and some other elements. A brief presentation of what has been modified in the labour market policies follows now. First of all, the labour costs have been reduced, which increases the Belgian competitiveness in the wage with respect to the countries in the neighbourhood, like France, Germany and the Netherlands. As indicated earlier, Belgium's economy had a good growth between 2014 and 2018. In this context, the reforms were favourable to decrease the unemployment rate and increase the employment rate (Direction générale du Trésor, 2021; OECD, 2020a). Sirlereau (2018) explains that the "Gouvernement Michel" has created around 200,000 jobs. Moreover, contrary to the early retirement programmes, that have been discussed previously, this government implemented a reform in which it is stated that individuals have to work until an older age in order to reduce the risk of financial issues in the pension system. Therefore, in 2025, the legal retirement age will be 66 years and it will be increased to 67 by 2030. The unemployment benefit payments have also been modified. They will be higher during the first six months of the unemployment spell, but afterwards they decrease

¹⁴Service public wallon de l'emploi et de la formation

faster than previously. The benefit payments keep being indefinite in time, as long as a person is eligible to receive them. Last but not least, the reforms try to create a more flexible labour market with the "Flexijob scheme." This allows the workers to have more flexible working hours and a reduction in the taxation and the social security contributions. In 2019, approximately 44,000 individuals have been registered in this type of jobs (McGowan et al., 2020).

Germany

First of all, the institutions responsible for the German labour market will be presented. The BMAS¹⁵ ensures the protection at work and fights against unemployment. Taking into account the needs of the different German states, it creates the legislation for the labour market (Bundesministerium für Arbeit und Soziales, 2021). The BA¹⁶ has its headquarter in Nuremberg and every state has its own general direction. In total, 156 employment agencies are spread over the German territory (Bundesagentur für Arbeit, n.d.-a). Their aim is to guide and help the job seekers in their job search and to organise training and formation sessions if necessary. Furthermore, the BA has the role to allocate unemployment benefits to the unemployed. Since 2004, the IAB¹⁷ is a department of the BA (Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung, n.d.). It has the mission to analyse the labour market in order to provide the politicians with advices and to help them in their decision taking. It also includes the Integrated Employment Biographies (IEB) of "all individuals in Germany who are either in regular/marginal employment or receive benefits" (Lichter & Schiprowski, 2021, p. 3).

The Hartz reforms have been implemented between 2003 and 2005. They have different effects. The first three reforms, introduced in 2003 and 2004, "focused on the organisational structure of the public employment services and on active labour market policies" (Schmieder, Von Wachter, & Bender, 2010, p. 11), i.e. the introduction of new employment opportunities and additional wage subsidies and the restructuring of the Federal Employment Agency (Krebs & Scheffel, 2013). The forth reform, which has been introduced in 2005, has modified the unemployment insurance system. The generosity of the unemployment benefits for the long-term unemployed has been significantly reduced (Krebs & Scheffel, 2013), since the unemployment assistance was merged with the general social assistance system (Goebel & Richter, 2007). Individuals continuing to meet the requirements of eligibility will get payments, which are not related to the previous wage anymore, but are means-tested and unlimited in time (Schmieder et al., 2010). If this is not the case, Hartz 4 will be shortened to 12 months (HartzIV.info, n.d.).

The Hartz reforms pushed the number of job seekers downwards (Kubis & Rebien, 2019) and they try to bring the unemployed back to employment (Bourgeois, 2013). They have not only been efficient in reducing the unemployment rate, but also in shortening the duration of the unemployment spells (Krause & Uhlig, 2012). This confirms that the reforms facilitate the reemployment and decrease the skills mismatches by offering continuous training and more formations (Bourgeois, 2013). On top of this, the reforms create the so-called "atypical" jobs.¹⁸ The labour market becomes more flexible and a huge increase of the number of job destructions, that would otherwise have led to a strong increase of the unemployment rate during the Great recession, could be avoided (Krause & Uhlig, 2012).

Comparison

When comparing both countries, one can only say that the German labour market has undergone more significant reforms than the Belgian one since the beginning of the 2000s. It is however not easy to compare reforms because each country has a different economic and labour market situation. Thus, it is logic that each country will introduce different reforms, even if the mechanism behind them can be similar. In each country, the effects of the reforms also vary.

¹⁵Bundesministerium für Arbeit und Soziales (Federal Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs)

¹⁶Bundesagentur für Arbeit (Federal Employment Agency)

¹⁷Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung (Institute for employment research)

¹⁸More information follow when discussing the part about "Atypical" jobs

3.2.2.2 Education and training

Belgium

Teacher training has to be reformed and highly qualified teachers need to be attracted in order to improve the skills of disadvantaged students and trainees and thus to decrease the skills mismatches and to increase the general quality level of the skills on the labour market. A Pact for Excellence in Teaching has been discussed in the French community of Belgium in 2018. This plan foresees the recruitment of additional staff and "the establishment of a six year plan covering pupil performance" (OECD, 2019, p. 18). The Conseil supérieur de l'Emploi (2019) suggests that the educational system and formation programmes should adapt to the new technologies and that the teaching staff must follow formations to update their skills. Although it could be an interesting starting point to reduce the skills mismatches, it has not been implemented so far. Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, which obliged the education system to switch to home-schooling and digital learning, a project called "Teach-Transition", which consists in creating a new academic programme for the academic year 2021-2022, has the aim to teach the skills required for the digital transition (Eurometropolitan e-Campus, 2020).

Lifelong learning and continuous training are important elements such that individuals have the skills and know-how required for different jobs. This would improve the job quality and might increase the wage as well (Nevejan, 2009). Therefore, it is important to guide the students into growth occupations (Conseil supérieur de l'Emploi, 2019). Furthermore, this is a good way to avoid skill obsolescence and to "facilitate transitions from declining jobs and sectors to new emerging occupations in a context of rapid technological change" (McGowan et al., 2020, p. 26). The authors state, though, that the participation in lifelong learning is only at 8.5% in Belgium in 2018 and that it is the lowest in Wallonia (6.7%). It is essential that the disadvantaged job seekers and workers benefit from training programmes (OECD, 2020a), such that the job quality and the work performance are improved.

In the last years, the FOREM has done huge improvements on training programmes in the Walloon region, like for example the introduction of the "Incitant+" or the "Plan Formation-Insertion." The former programme aims to decrease the skills mismatches and will be explained in further details in the part on *Financial incentives*. The latter one gives the employers the possibility to train a job seeker according to a specific plan developed with respect to the needs of the employer. After the completion of the training, the employer must recruit the trainee for at least the duration that the training programme lasted. Moreover, when the traine is recruited, the employer can ask to benefit from some public aid like for example the SESAM.¹⁹

In Wallonia, job seekers participating in a training programme do not need to actively look for a job. However, if a suitable job offer would be proposed, they must be available for the labour market. Consequently, this has the effect that job seekers with a short training programme find a job more quickly than those participating in a long training programme. For the latter, the lock-in effect is stronger within the first few months after the start of the training. In general, despite heterogeneities, it can be said that training programmes have a positive effect on the job finding rate (Fonder et al., 2019).

All in all, since youth unemployment and the number of youngsters neither employed nor enrolled at school is high in Belgium, it is important to incentivise them to participate in training programmes in order to acquire the necessary skills for the labour market (McGowan et al., 2020). Information sessions and several incentives might be useful for this.

¹⁹In order to respect the limitations of the framework of the thesis, this part has to be kept short. Further information can be found under: https://www.leforem.be/entreprises/aides-financieres-plan-formation-insertion.html

Germany

The goal of training programmes is to assess, maintain or improve the skills of the participants. Furthermore, because of technological change, it is important that the knowledge and skills are adjusted in order to be kept up-to-date with the progress. These programmes can also be an instrument for individuals wanting some vocational retraining in order to facilitate the reintegration into the labour market (Lechner, Miquel, & Wunsch, 2011). Furthermore, the authors explain that training programmes often combine classroom training and on-the-job training. This is also called "duale Ausbildung."²⁰ Even though the authors describe the situation between 1991 and 2003, the idea behind the training programmes is still the same nowadays.

When doing the evaluation of ALMPs for 2011, Heyer, Koch, Stephan, and Wolff (2012) explain that training programmes usually have a duration of maximum 12 weeks. They include job application training as well as short qualification formations. The participants in these programmes do not only acquire the required know-how and skills, but their availability for the labour market is also verified. The training is either organised as an educational measure or within firms. Within a firm, these measures aim mostly to test whether the job seeker would be suitable for the job and to teach him or her the job specific skills if he or she is considered to fit well enough into the firm.

As discussed for the case of Belgium, Lechner et al. (2011) find that training programmes also have a lock-in effect in Germany. While the job seekers participate in such a programme, they decrease their job search efforts. Thus, the probability of receiving a job offer is lower. As soon as the training period is over, positive effects on the reemployment rate can be noticed because the participants have an increased knowledge and the required skills. So, in the short-run, the effects of training programmes on employment are negative, but in the long-run, the impact is positive.

Comparison

When comparing both countries, it can be said that the conception of the educational system in Germany is well thought out. The combination of classroom training and on-the-job training gives the students and the job seekers the opportunity to acquire some job-specific skills, which is a huge advantage in the job search and recruitment process. Belgium, however, has to do some work on the training programmes and especially on its educational system. It must be mentioned, though, that the FOREM has remarkably improved the training system with the introduction of, for example, the formations fighting the skills mismatches or the "Plan Formation-Insertion."

3.2.2.3 Labour mobility and migration

Belgium

In order to improve the labour mobility, the different regions of Belgium signed an agreement in 2005, which envisaged linguistic courses and interregional training such that job seekers can look for a job in whatever region of Belgium. This agreement aims at reducing the job shortages and skills mismatches, and thus also to decrease unemployment. The "difficulty" of this is that high-qualified job seekers benefit from this labour mobility most often. Under-qualified individuals, and thus also generally those with low wages, are too liquidity constrained to accept a job in another region if they need to commute to work (Zimmer, 2012). Therefore, the question is whether commuting to work is profitable or too expensive. This depends on the personal situation of the job seeker. The author also finds that the distance between workplace and home is negatively correlated with the participation in this programme, i.e. the further the workplace is from home, the more expensive and time-consuming commuting to work would be and the less individuals will be incentivized to participate. Figure 16, an

²⁰English: dual apprenticeships or dual training/dual education

illustration by the Conseil supérieur de l'Emploi (2019), shows that despite the agreement between the regions, the interregional labour mobility stays quite low.

| | PROVINCE DE RÉSIDENCE | | | | | | | | | | | |
|------------------|-----------------------|--------|-----|-----|-------|--------|-----|-------|-----|-----|------|-----|
| | | FL-OCC | ANV | LIM | FL-OR | BRA-FL | BXL | BRA-W | HAI | NAM | LIEG | LUX |
| | FL-OCC | 89 | 0 | 0 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | ANV | о | 84 | 6 | 10 | 7 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 0 |
| | LIM | 0 | 2 | 81 | 0 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 0 |
| _ | FL-OR | 7 | 3 | 0 | 76 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 0 |
| IVAI | BRA-FL | 0 | 6 | 4 | 3 | 55 | 7 | 3 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 0 |
| TRA | BXL | 1 | 3 | 2 | 7 | 32 | 83 | 33 | 9 | 6 | 3 | 0 |
| U DE | BRA-W | о | 0 | 0 | 0 | 2 | 2 | 53 | 4 | 5 | 1 | 1 |
| LIE | HAI | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 79 | 10 | 0 | 0 |
| | NAM | о | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 3 | 3 | 65 | 3 | 3 |
| | LIEG | о | 0 | 1 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 3 | 0 | 1 | 84 | 1 |
| | LUX | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 8 | 1 | 65 |
| | Étranger | 1 | 2 | 7 | 0 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 2 | 2 | 3 | 30 |
| Source: Statbel. | | | | | | | | | | | | |

Figure 16: Mobility within Belgium and between its regions

Source: Conseil supérieur de l'Emploi (2019, Table 14)

Belgium also participates in the migration programme. In order to prepare the immigrated children and job seekers at best and to improve their employment outcomes, language courses and specific training for different jobs are offered. Furthermore, anti-discriminatory measures are organised in order to ensure a smooth recruitment process and a peaceful workplace environment (OECD, 2019). In order to facilitate their integration into the local labour market, "validation programmes for skills and degrees acquired abroad" (OECD, 2019, p. 19) should be developed.

Germany

In Germany, the increase of the employment rate of foreigners from 4.7% to 9.2% between 2014 and 2017 indicates that interregional mobility is not always possible (Kubis & Rebien, 2019). Remembering Figure 12 on page 30, it could be seen that the north-east of Germany has the highest unemployment rate and the south the lowest one. This huge distance makes it very difficult to commute on a daily or regularly basis. It would be very time consuming and in the long-term, this would become extremely expensive as well. Therefore exists a financial incentive, which helps the job seekers with the transportation costs or the paying of the rent. Interregional mobility is possible, when both regions are close to each other, but since Germany is a big country, labour mobility is not possible between all of the regions.

Migration is thus very essential for German employers. Since the implementation of the "Blue Card" in 2012 for the EU, Germany participated in this programme allowing non-European job seekers to find a job within its territory. In 2015, 24,640 participants have already been accounted for Germany and women are benefiting most often of this programme (Hanganu & Heß, 2016). The fact that German employers are looking in foreign countries to recruit job seekers is a sign that huge labour shortages exist within Germany and that labour mobility is restricted, for the reasons mentioned above.

Comparison

Since Belgium, compared to Germany, is a small country, labour mobility should be easier. It is possible to commute in Germany, but it is difficult to imagine that someone commutes for example between the north and the south of the country. The difference between both countries is that in Belgium, an agreement foresees to provide job seekers with language courses in order to reduce the language barrier between the Flanders and Wallonia. In Germany, a financial incentive exists, helping individuals financially to commute or to rent or buy a flat or house, if their work place is far away enough from their homes. Both countries use migration more often to fill the vacancies that could not be satisfied with the skills possessed by the local job seekers.

3.2.2.4 "Atypical" jobs

Belgium

An "atypical" type of work is a job that has a non-standard form, like for example temporary work, part-time work and self-employment. This provides more flexibility to the worker as well as to the employer. This flexibility can be beneficial for workers especially at the beginning of their career, because the unemployment rate should be decreased and it can be a gateway to a permanent contract. Around 40% of the temporary workers moved into permanent employment between 2016 and 2017. However, the question that arises is whether the job quality will suffer and disparities will increase or not. Since their pension contributions and taxations are reduced, new distortions might be created (McGowan et al., 2020).

Belgium has a legislation that aims to make short-time work more attractive. Since individuals work less hours under this regime, their monthly wage is also lower. Nevejan (2009) explains that, if a job seeker is available for a full-time job, but accepting a job for a schedule of at least 30% of that of a full-time job, this individual can benefit from the income guarantee allowance.²¹ The aim is to provide the job seekers with a guarantee that their wage does not drop below the level of the unemployment benefits, such that the unemployed are more incentivised to accept jobs for less hours of work-time. Consequently, the unemployment rate can be decreased.

Germany

In Germany, this type of jobs does not only reflect short-time work and part-time work, but also "mini-jobs" (Brunow, Gundert, & Kubis, 2014) and "midi-jobs." These types of jobs have been introduced with the Hartz I and Hartz II reforms in January 2003. A mini-job is a job paying up to \in 400 (\in 450 since 2013)²² and for which the social security tax is eliminated. A midi-job is a job paying up to \in 800 (\in 850 since 2013)²³ and which has lowered social security contributions. Furthermore, the requirements for temporary work and fixed-term contracts have been designed in a less stringent way (Krebs & Scheffel, 2013). As soon as an individual earns more than \in 450, for example in a mini-job, he or she will pay taxes and social contributions, which is not the case below this threshold. Thus, it acts as a disincentive to earn more (Eichhorst, Wozny, & Cox, 2015).

Short-time work was an effective measure during the financial crisis in 2008 in order to avoid a huge jump in the unemployment rate. The slight increase is due to some firms going bankrupt (OECD, 2020b). The effectiveness of this short-time work scheme is that it provides the employers with some subsidies if they reduce the working hours of the workers instead of firing them. Like this, a huge increase in unemployment could be avoided during the Great recession (Boeri & Bruecker, 2011).

²¹Allocation de guarantie de revenu (AGR)

²²Information extracted from Berthold and Coban (2013)

²³Ibid.

Comparison

In both countries, it can be noticed that short-time work was a relatively efficient measure during the financial crisis in order to avoid a drastic jump in the unemployment rate. In both cases, some subsidies have been handed out in order to guarantee that the workers do not suffer a decrease in their income and to incentivise the employers to not fire the workers, but instead, to shorten their schedule. Belgium and Germany use atypical types of contracts more commonly, even if the "usual" permanent contracts keep being predominant.

3.2.2.5 Retirement programmes

Belgium

As explained by Jousten, Lefèbvre, Perelman, and Pestieau (2010), the labour force participation rate by the elderly was very low in Belgium in 2001. This can also be verified in Table 7 on page 41. When looking at the evolution of their participation rate, it can be noticed that it increased over time, until reaching 55.6% in 2020. Early retirement programmes enable older individuals to leave the labour market earlier and thus free up space for the young job seekers. This could decrease the unemployment rate, for the elderly and eventually also for the young job seekers. However, as discussed earlier, due to the ageing of the population, this programme might lead to job shortages. Furthermore, Jousten et al. (2010) also question that the unemployment rate of the young would really decrease because they often suffer skills mismatches. This issue only can be solved by reforming the educational system and lining it up with the needs of the labour market.

On the other hand, since the legal age to retire has started to be increased a few years ago until reaching the age of 67 in 2030 (OECD, 2020a), individuals stayed longer in the labour force, in order to not lose too much in the pension payments. This might explain the increase in the labour force participation rate of those aged between 55 and 64. McGowan et al. (2020) also explain that, since recent policy reforms, the income from pensions can be combined with the income from an independent or salaried activity for individuals aged 65 or having a 45 year career. This contributes to more flexibility and an increase in the participation rate of older workers.

Germany

In 2004, the legislation suggesting a shift in the retirement age has been refused because the unions argued that this would increase the unemployment rate of the elderlies as well as of the youngsters (Börsch-Supan & Schnabel, 2010). In 2007, it came back into the discussion, but nothing has been done. Finally, in 2012, Germany started to extend the working period and to push the legal age of retirement backwards. It is postponed each year by one month until 2024. Afterwards, the age is shifted each year by two months until reaching the age of 67 (JuraForum.de-Redaktion, 2020). This would happen in 2030, exactly as in Belgium. Börsch-Supan and Schnabel (2010) also estimate that the correlation between young employment and old employment in Germany is positive. A high employment rate of the elderlies means that the unemployment rate is lower. This could motivate the young to look harder for a job and to participate on the labour market. Furthermore, the more older workers are available, the better the young can be trained and the more experience they can acquire, which would be positively reflected in their job opportunities.

Before the system postponing the legal age of retirement has started, Germany already implemented a mechanism to incentivise the workers to not take the early retirement. This law, reducing the pension benefits if a person retires before the legal age, is called "Wachstums- und Beschäftigungsförderungsgesetz."²⁴ Hanel (2010) delivers the expected results. Early retirement requests are postponed by around 14 months and the employment duration is extended by

²⁴Act on the Promotion of Growth and Employment (Hanel, 2010)

approximately 10 months. This difference, however, with a shorter employment extension compared to the postponement of the early retirement demands might increase the unemployment rate.

Comparison

In both countries, the legal age of retirement is postponed, which might be a drawback for the ageing of the population. Keeping the older workers employed for a longer period of time might increase the unemployment rate of the elderlies and eventually that of the youngsters, but it reduces the risk of jobs to stay vacant because of job shortages, which would occur especially if the older workers, having attained the age to retire, would claim their retirement. Having a look at Table 7, it can be seen that Germany has a much higher labour force participation rate of those aged 55-64 than Belgium. For instance, in 2019, the German participation rate of the elderly was at 74.7%, whereas the Belgian one was at 52.1%.

Furthermore, we saw in both cases that the authors have doubts that pushing the elderlies earlier into retirement would increase the amount of jobs available for the youngsters and thus decrease their unemployment rate. Jousten et al. (2010) explained that the young often suffer skills mismatches and Börsch-Supan and Schnabel (2010) state that the employment rate of the older individuals is positively correlated with the employment rate of the young individuals. In both cases, they come to the same idea and conclusion.

| Time | Belgium | | | Germany | | |
|------|-----------------------|--------------------|-------------------|-----------------------|--------------------|-------------------|
| | Employment/population | Labour force | Unemployment rate | Employment/population | Labour force | Unemployment rate |
| | ratio | participation rate | | ratio | participation rate | |
| 2000 | 26.3 | 27.1 | 3.0 | 37.6 | 42.9 | 12.3 |
| 2001 | 25.1 | 25.9 | 3.1 | 37.9 | 42.9 | 11.7 |
| 2002 | 26.6 | 27.7 | 4.0 | 38.6 | 43.3 | 10.8 |
| 2003 | 28.1 | 28.9 | 2.8 | 39.0 | 43.1 | 9.7 |
| 2004 | 30.0 | 31.2 | 3.8 | 41.8 | 47.8 | 12.5 |
| 2005 | 31.8 | 33.3 | 4.4 | 45.5 | 52.1 | 12.7 |
| 2006 | 32.0 | 33.6 | 4.8 | 48.1 | 54.9 | 12.4 |
| 2007 | 34.4 | 35.9 | 4.2 | 51.3 | 57.2 | 10.3 |
| 2008 | 34.5 | 36.1 | 4.4 | 53.8 | 58.7 | 8.5 |
| 2009 | 35.3 | 37.2 | 5.1 | 56.1 | 61.0 | 8.0 |
| 2010 | 37.3 | 39.2 | 4.6 | 57.7 | 62.5 | 7.7 |
| 2011 | 38.7 | 40.3 | 4.0 | 60.0 | 64.1 | 6.4 |
| 2012 | 39.5 | 41.4 | 4.5 | 61.6 | 65.4 | 5.9 |
| 2013 | 41.7 | 44.1 | 5.4 | 63.6 | 67.5 | 5.7 |
| 2014 | 42.7 | 45.1 | 5.4 | 65.6 | 69.1 | 5.1 |
| 2015 | 44.0 | 46.6 | 5.6 | 66.2 | 69.4 | 4.7 |
| 2016 | 45.4 | 48.1 | 5.7 | 68.6 | 71.3 | 3.9 |
| 2017 | 48.3 | 51.3 | 5.9 | 70.1 | 72.6 | 3.4 |
| 2018 | 50.3 | 52.6 | 4.3 | 71.4 | 73.6 | 2.9 |
| 2019 | 52.1 | 54.3 | 4.1 | 72.7 | 74.7 | 2.7 |
| 2020 | 53.3 | 55.6 | 4.2 | | | |

Table 7: Comparison of people aged 55-64 on the labour market between Belgium and Germany

Source: own creation, Data extracted from OECD.Stat (Dataset: LFS by sex and age - indicators)

3.2.2.6 Financial incentives

Belgium

Financial incentives play an important role to bring job seekers back into employment. On the one hand, financial incentives target employers and on the other hand, they seek to activate the unemployed in their job search. The financial incentives presented below refer to Wallonia.²⁵

New financial incentives have been implemented for the so-called "formations en alternance."²⁶ This programme includes four financial incentives. The first two of them target the firms, respectively the independents. In both cases, they receive \in 750 if they supervise their trainees well enough, such that they pass their first year. Then, the trainee also gets \in 750 if he or she finishes the total training period with success. This should incentivise him or her to go until the completion of the programme. A last financial incentive is granted to the sectorial training fund for employing coaches (Beauvois, 2016).

Another important financial incentive programme is the so-called "Incitant+." This one is special because it only targets jobs that are in shortage and that have difficulties with skills mismatches. Implemented since the 1^{rst} of September 2018, this programme grants job seekers \in 350 when they successfully finish a training programme leading to a job considered in shortage or to suffer mismatches in the skills required and offered. Such a formation needs to last for at least four weeks and account for a minimum of 35 hours of work per week. Each individual is allowed to participate only once in his or her lifetime in this programme (Le Forem, 2021).

Germany

A financial incentive in Germany offers the employers the possibility to recruit underqualified job seekers without having to pay them the entire wage. The employer gets periodic payments by the government for compensating the under-qualification of the recruited job seeker (Krug, 2010). The aim is to incentivise the employers to recruit underqualified job seekers and to give them a chance. Furthermore, this should incentivise them to accept these jobs, since they are paid a higher wage than without this financial incentive. However, these periodic payments to the employer only take place at the beginning of a contract, which gives him time to provide the newly hired worker with the necessary training to acquire the required skills and qualifications. After some time, the employer has to pay the entire wage of the workers (Krug, 2010).

Another example of a financial incentive in Germany, which is addressed to the job seekers, is called "Abschlussorientierte Qualifizierung mit Anreizsystem für bis 35-Jährige." Introduced in 2016, this programme targets the job seekers aged 25 to 35 if they have no diploma yet. Those who are covered by an unemployment insurance (individuals being part of the SGB III in the legal system) have the right to receive $\leq 1,000$ if they pass with success the intermediary exam and to get between $\leq 1,000$ and $\leq 1,500$ if they successfully pass the final exam. Furthermore, they receive ≤ 100 per month on top of their unemployment benefits. The participants covered by a minimum income (individuals being part of the SGB II in the legal system) benefit of $\leq 1,500$ if they pass the intermediary exam and between $\leq 1,500$ and $\leq 2,000$ if they successfully finish the training programme. The final amount that the participants can obtain is determined by the grade that they obtain in their exams. However, some differences exist between the two groups of participants. They cannot follow the same formations. The participants covered by an unemployment insurance have to follow a training programme of two years and those of the SGB II can participate in a formation of up to three years (Lang & Osiander, 2017). The authors mention, though, that they are not able to do an evaluation of this reform because most of the participants had not finished their training programme at the time when they collected the data.

²⁵This list is not exhaustive. Including each single financial incentive programme would exceed the framework of this work.
²⁶Work-linked training, i.e. a combination of work and training.

Comparison

A comparison of Belgium and Germany shows that both countries introduce financial incentives in order to incentivise the unemployed to search harder for a job and the employers to be less picky during the recruitment process. Slight similarities can be seen between the "Incitant+" and the financial incentive in Germany targeting the job seekers below the age of 35, but some differences exist: on the one hand, in the amounts granted, on the other hand, on the types and participants allowed.

3.2.3 Unemployment compensation

Belgium

As soon as an individual is considered as unemployed, he or she will receive unemployment benefits (Schmieder & von Wachter, 2016). The coverage ratio, which is the rate of job seekers eligible and receiving unemployment benefits, is higher than 60% in Belgium (McGowan et al., 2020). Taking the coverage ratio among the long-term unemployed, the authors state that they account for around 55% of all the unemployment benefit recipients. This might be explained by the unlimited unemployment benefits in time in Belgium. This share is close to the one of Germany, which is at 47%. In both cases, the coverage ratio is far above the EU average.

McGowan et al. (2020) suggest that, instead of having unlimited unemployment benefits in time, Belgium should introduce a system like in most countries, i.e., the unemployment benefits have a definite time period and have a specified exhaustion date. Afterwards, social assistance systems with meanstested payments should be implemented. Like this, even though most of the long-term unemployed still would get the necessary income support, the system would ensure that they keep being incentivised to look for a job. If a long-term unemployed has other sources of income, like for example the income of the partner, they would get lower or no payments under this system.

Even though Belgium has a higher net replacement rate for low-paid workers than the average of the OECD countries, it stands out to be not very generous if it is compared to other countries with long-lasting unemployment benefits. Figure 17 illustrates that Belgium is one of the only countries having many reductions in the net replacement rate of the unemployment benefits over the unemployment spell, i.e., it decreases gradually. If, however, an unemployed person had previously a high wage, the benefit payments will be calculated on the basis of a fixed ceiling.²⁷ McGowan et al. (2020) explain that declining unemployment benefits are most of the time not sufficient to incentivize long-term unemployed to go back into employment. It is thus important to introduce strong work incentives. For instance, Belgium has implemented in 2019 a "tax shift" to incentivize low-earners to participate in jobs.

It is striking that around 11% of the inactive and more than 4% of the employed receive unemployment benefits. The former include those who are not immediately available to work and the latter include those working in part-time jobs and getting partial unemployment benefits, such that their income is at least as high as full unemployment benefits (Hijzen & Salvatori, 2020).

If however, job seekers refuse a job offer or a training programme, they will be sanctioned. Refusing to participate in a training programme can lead to a more severe sanction than refusing a job offer in the case of Belgium. The first sanction can result in a suspension of the benefits lasting between 4 to 52 weeks, but in most cases, the length of a benefit sanction is between 10 to 14 weeks and it is decided on a case-by-case basis. Furthermore, if the individuals have refused any kind of offer a second time within 12 months following the first sanction, they might be excluded from the unemployment benefits and only regain access to them after they have worked a certain amount of time. Nevertheless, it has to be specified that if a job seeker refuses for the first time to participate in an ALMP programme, the benefits will immediately be suspended for that individual (Langenbucher, 2015).

²⁷Further information can be found under https://www.onem.be/fr/documentation/feuille-info/t67



Figure 17: Comparison of the net replacement rates of unemployment benefits Proportion of previous in-work household income maintained after a certain period of unemployment¹, 2018

1. Net replacement rates refer to the net household income during unemployment as a fraction of total net household income before unemployment. Household income during unemployment includes unemployment insurance, unemployment assistance, family benefits, social assistance and housing benefits. The net replacement rates are computed for households where one adult aged 41 and with full working history becomes unemployed and their previous earnings equal 67% of the average wage. They are an average across six family types: single, single earner couple and dual earner couple (all with and without children).

Source: Hijzen and Salvatori (2020), OECD calculations based on the OECD's TaxBEN model.

Source: McGowan et al. (2020, Figure 23)

Germany

During the presentation of the financial incentives, the legislation systems SGB II and SGB III have been mentioned. This also plays an important role when considering the unemployment compensation. The individuals under the SGB II are those benefiting from unemployment benefits, which depend on the previous wage and are limited in time (with a maximum of 24 months, depending on how many months you have previously worked).²⁸ These recipients are also considered as being closer to the labour market because their unemployment spells are of shorter duration. However, only around one third of the unemployed are benefiting from these payments. Conversely, individuals belonging to the SGB III are those benefiting from the unemployment benefits II, also called "Hartz 4." They represent two third of the job seekers and their chances to find a job are smaller. After the Hartz reforms, the number of persons in the SGB III legislation system has decreased significantly (Sell et al., 2020).

Exactly as in the case of Belgium, the coverage ratio is also at around 70% or higher in Germany (Langenbucher, 2015) and the unemployed immediately get unemployment benefits (Schmieder & von Wachter, 2016). Eligible job seekers must "have contributed to the social insurance scheme for at least twelve months within the last two years preceding their job loss" (Lichter & Schiprowski, 2021, p. 3). They receive monthly benefits amounting to 60% of their previous wage, respectively 67% if the recipient has children. It must be mentioned, though, that the maximum is "capped at the ceiling of the social contributions" (Lichter & Schiprowski, 2021, p. 3). As soon as the unemployment benefits are exhausted, the job seekers can claim means-tested welfare benefits. These benefits are the so-called "Hartz 4" or "Arbeitslosengeld II" benefits.²⁹ Their payments are infinite in time and they are a guarantee for the job seekers to have a minimum disposable income. If the unemployed are not capable of work and in financial distress, they can obtain social benefits (Bundesagentur für Arbeit, n.d.-b; Goebel & Richter, 2007). Moreover, Goebel and Richter explain that, in order to be eligible for receiving social benefits, they are not allowed to live with someone who is already benefiting from unemployment benefits II.

²⁸Information extracted from the following link: https://www.hartz4.org/hoehe-arbeitslosengeld-1/

²⁹Unemployment benefits II

When having again a look at Figure 17, it can be seen that in the case for Germany, individuals who earned 67% of the average wage before becoming unemployed, the replacement rate was in 2018 at the beginning of the unemployment spell at a similar level as in Belgium. After 12 months, however, the replacement rate decreases drastically to approximately 63% and stays at that level. Unemployment benefits I also have a ceiling when calculated with respect to the previous wage. Depending on whether the state is a new state (East Germany) or an old state (West Germany), the ceiling is different. In 2018, this ceiling was at €6,500 in West Germany and €5,800 in the eastern states of the country. After some long calculation, the maximum unemployment benefit payment is €2,031.56 in West Germany and €1,875.53 for East Germany.³⁰ In 2021, the ceiling has been increased and reaches €7,100 in West and €6,700 in East Germany.³¹ Here again, long calculations have to be done in order to get the exact benefit payments in both regions.

In Germany, sanctions are also applied if the unemployed refuse job offers. Their aim is to ensure that the job seekers meet their obligations to be eligible for unemployment benefits (Wolff, 2014). The first sanction leads to a benefit suspension during 3 weeks and the total unemployment benefit period is shortened by the length of the sanction. When an individual is sanctioned for a second time, he or she will be suspended from the benefits for 6 weeks. In the case of subsequent refusals, the individual will get a sanction lasting 12 weeks. Here again, the entitlement period for benefits will be cut by the length of the sanction (Langenbucher, 2015).

Comparison

Comparing Belgium and Germany, one could initially think that Belgium is more generous because the payments are unlimited in time and when looking at Figure 17, it can be seen that the net replacement rate is higher in Belgium than in Germany. However, it is computed with respect to 67% of the average wage. The important element to bear in mind is the ceiling of the payments. In Belgium, this reaches a maximum of $\leq 1,810.38$ in 2021^{32} , whereas in Germany the maximum payments lied in 2018 at $\leq 2,031.56$, respectively $\leq 1,875.53$, depending on whether it is an old or new state. In 2021, these amounts have been even further increased. So, the unemployment benefit payments are more generous in Germany than in Belgium.

A huge difference between the two countries is that Belgium has unemployment benefits that are unlimited in time, whereas Germany has first of all unemployment benefits I, which are paid during a maximum of 24 months, depending on how long the unemployed was previously employed. When these benefit payments come to exhaustion, the job seeker will receive unemployment benefits II (Hartz 4), which are social benefits. They are means-tested and unlimited in time, provided that the unemployed keeps being available for the labour market.

³⁰Further specifications can be found under the following link: https://www.hartz4.de/hoechstsatz-alg1/

³¹Information extracted from https://brutto-netto-rechner.info/arbeitslosengeld-I-rechner.php

³²Information extracted from https://www.onem.be/fr/documentation/barèmes/chomage-complet

| Belgium (Wallonia) | Germany | | | | | | |
|--|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Unemployment situation | | | | | | | |
| Employment rate of 64.7% in 2020 | Employment rate of approx. 77% in 2020 | | | | | | |
| Hit by financial crisis in 2008, but managed it relatively well | Hit by financial crisis in 2008, but managed it relatively well | | | | | | |
| Only small increase in unemployment rate due to Covid-19 pandemic | Only small increase in unemployment rate due to Covid-19 pandemic | | | | | | |
| Unemployment rate of between 6.5% and 8.5% until 2015, then sharp decline | Increasing unemployment rate until 2005, then strong decreasing trend | | | | | | |
| Increasing trend of the vacancies | Increasing trend of the vacancies | | | | | | |
| 28% of field-of-study mismatches; 34.5% of | 20.1% of field-of-study mismatches; 37.2% of | | | | | | |
| qualification mismatches | qualification mismatches | | | | | | |
| High amount of long-term unemployed | High amount of long-term unemployed | | | | | | |
| Labour mark | tet policies | | | | | | |
| Federal government creates legislation | Federal Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs creates legislation | | | | | | |
| Wallonia: FOREM in charge of regional employment and training services | Federal Employment Agencies are in charge for job search guidance, organising training programmes and providing unemployment benefits | | | | | | |
| Reforms under "Gouvernment Michel": reduction in labour costs, decrease in unemployment, job creation, shift in the legal retirement age, change in unemployment benefit payments | Hartz reforms between 2003 and 2005: decrease in unemployment benefits for long- term unemployment, introduction of atypical jobs, improving the matching of skills between unemployed and jobs | | | | | | |
| Lack of reforms in educational system, but | Education and training systems are relatively well | | | | | | |
| improvement of training and formation programmes by FOREM | structured | | | | | | |
| Interregional agreement for facilitating labour mobility | Financial aid to incentivise labour mobility | | | | | | |
| Atypical jobs used especially during periods of recessions; works relatively well to avoid a dramatic increase in unemployment | Atypical jobs used especially during periods of recessions; works relatively well to avoid a dramatic increase in unemployment | | | | | | |
| Legal retirement age will be raised to 67 by 2030 | Legal retirement age will be raised to 67 by 2030; also financial incentive for old workers to not retire (combination of retirement payments and wage) | | | | | | |
| Financial incentives for employers and workers (Formations en alternance, Incitant+) | Financial incentives for employers and workers ("Abschlussorientierte Qualifizierung mit Anreizsystem für bis 35-Jährige", labour mobility, retirement) | | | | | | |
| Unemployment | compensation | | | | | | |
| Unlimited in time since 2004 | Limited to a maxmimum of 24 months, depending on | | | | | | |
| Gradually declining over time | One single decrease when becoming long term | | | | | | |
| Graduary deeming over time | unemployed | | | | | | |
| Ceiling of €1,810.38 in 2021 | In 2018, ceiling of $\in 2,031.56$, respectively $\in 1.875,53$ depending on whether it is a Western or Eastern state; ceiling increased in 2021 | | | | | | |

Table 8: Summary table: Labour market description of Belgium and Germany

Source: own creation

3.3 Job search behaviour

Belgium

Since the implementation of the ACR procedure, the number of sanctions has increased in Belgium and the biggest increase could be noticed in Wallonia (Cockx et al., 2011). Job search activities by all job seekers under the age of 55 may be monitored. After 12 months of unemployment spell (or 9 months for those younger than 25), an interview about the job search efforts is organised. If the employment agency assumes that the unemployed looked hard enough for a job, an other interview will be held 9 months later. If, however, the job search efforts are considered to be not sufficient, an action plan will be organised and a new interview will be held four months later in order to verify the search efforts. Younger individuals eventually have earlier and more frequent interventions. On average, a job seeker needs to send around five applications per month to be considered as looking hard enough for a job (Langenbucher, 2015).

Cockx et al. (2011) estimate the effect of a warning letter approximately eight months before an interview with the National Employment Office (NEO)³³ on the job finding rate for those younger than 30. This procedure foresees, in the case of Wallonia, a tight support for the job seekers by the FOREM as soon as they got a warning. They find for 2004 in Wallonia that those aged 30 have a 6.2 percentage point higher probability of employment if they get a warning letter for an upcoming interview in eight months. It must be specified, though, that this effect is mostly true for those highly educated and living in regions with low levels of unemployment. Conversely, the effect of a warning letter on job seekers living in regions with high unemployment rates and low levels of education seems to be very small. The ACR procedure seems to have an ambiguous effect on the job quality in Wallonia. Since the ACR does not only monitor and warn job seekers in the Walloon region, but the FOREM also accompanies and supports them in the job search, some of them will accept a job of lower quality, but others will manage to be employed in a higher-quality job. Moreover, the participation rate in training programmes is increased by around 8 percentage points in Wallonia thanks to the ACR procedure.

Cockx, Dejemeppe, Launov, and Van Der Linden (2018) argue that reducing unemployment benefits with the length of unemployment spells does not lead to the wished effects. Since job seekers are heterogeneous, their reaction will be heterogeneous as well and thus, the behaviour depends on their personal traits and their individual situation. Furthermore, even if a reduction in unemployment benefits might lead to a higher incentive to look for a job, it does not mean that this job seeker will be hired. Employers will recruit most often those individuals, who have shorter unemployment spells, first. Thus, a decrease in the unemployment benefits might have a negative impact on job search and increase the ratio of long-term unemployed. Therefore, the authors suggest to decrease unemployment benefits at the beginning of the unemployment spells, but to increase them later on. Long-term unemployed value unemployment benefits the most because they have a lower income and thus difficulties to smooth their consumption (Hijzen & Salvatori, 2020).

In order to analyse the effect of benefit exhaustion in Belgium, we need to go back before 2004. Since then, benefits are unlimited in time for every group of individuals. Cockx and Ries (2004) analysed the behaviour of women because the ratio of women being unemployed and having a partner being employed was considerably higher than the opposite situation. They find that as soon as the female job seeker is notified that her unemployment benefits will exhaust, the unemployment hazard increases. Employment probabilities are very high especially during the month before the unemployment benefit exhaustion and reemployment stays at a high level after the exhaustion date. Thus, the authors are not sure whether these results will also be true for other groups of unemployed, as for example male job seekers, youngsters, etc.

³³In French: Office National de l'Emploi (ONEM)

Germany

Integration agreements have to be reviewed after 6 months of unemployment. This will already happen after 3 months for young individuals. These integration agreements are based on the individual situation of the job seekers because they include their individual qualifications. Consequently, "the number, frequency and acknowledgment of the individuals' applications that are set forth in an integration agreement" have to differ between the different job seekers, since they depend on their personality traits. No minimum amount of applications is specified for the case of Germany to be considered as looking hard enough for a job (Langenbucher, 2015, p. 49).

Germany has known a cut in the duration of the unemployment benefits in February 2006. The benefit payments for the older job seekers have been reduced from initially 32 months to 18 months. Before the reform, relatively many elderlies became unemployed, whereas after that reform, a decline of the entries into unemployment by the older workers can be seen. This modification of the legislation impacted especially those who are aged 52 to 54 and 57 to 64. Dlugosz, Stephan, and Wilke (2009) find that, shortly before the introduction of the reform in February 2006, the flow of the elderlies into unemployment entries. Thus, they explain that the anticipation effect is relatively important. In January 2008, however, the coalition of CDU³⁴ and SPD³⁵ has increased the unemployment benefits period from 18 months to 24 months for this group of individuals. Since the reform of 2006 was only of short duration, before being modified again in 2008, it is not clear whether the decline of the unemployment entries of older workers is only of short duration and mainly caused by the anticipation effect, or if it would also have held in the long-run. Nevertheless, it is clearly noticeable that, in the short-run, the reform of 2006 managed to considerably reduce the unemployment entries of the elderlies.

The Hartz IV reform, introduced in 2005, decreased significantly the level of the unemployment benefits for the long-term unemployed. Krebs and Scheffel (2013) find that the cut in the generosity did not only affect the long-term unemployed, but it also had a positive effect, even if it was smaller, on job search behaviour of the short-term unemployed. The Hartz reforms in general contributed to a better matching between the job seekers and the vacancies because more job opportunities were available and the decrease in the generosity of the unemployment benefits for the long-term unemployed incentivised them to increase their job search efforts. The authors conclude that around half of the decrease in the unemployment rate during the period 2005 to 2012 can be explained by the Hartz reforms, which is relatively considerable because the decrease in the unemployment rate was very significant.

The Hartz reforms implemented also a system including vouchers, with which the job seekers can choose their own private intermediary to help in the job search process. Heyer et al. (2012) find that this system seems to have a positive effect on job search and job finding, but these contracts are estimated to be of shorter duration. So, the outcome of the matching between the job and the unemployed indicates to be of low quality.

As discussed in the literature review, it is also true for Germany that not only sanctions affect the job search behaviour, but also the warning of a sanction. After having presented several studies about Germany, Wolff (2014) comes to the conclusion that the threat of a sanction has most of the time the wished effects: job seekers meet the obligations to keep being eligible for the benefits and they cooperate with the agents of the employment agency. The author explains that too strict sanctions might be counterproductive because the job seekers eventually end up being in financial distress, not having enough money to live or even becoming homeless. He suggests that, instead of for example excluding a job seeker entirely of the benefits, the payments should be decreased up to the amount such that at least the rent and some food can be paid or to implement longer sanctions instead of ceasing the benefit

³⁴Christian Democratic Union of Germany (Christlich Demokratische Union Deutschlands)

³⁵Social Democratic Party of Germany (Sozialdemokratische Partei Deutschlands)

payments entirely. Goebel and Richter (2007) also state that after the introduction of the Hartz reforms, the number of job seekers concerned by these reforms and who are considered as poor has increased from one half to two thirds. In contrast to the statements by Wolff (2014) and Goebel and Richter (2007), Boockmann, Thomsen, and Walter (2009) find that a more intense usage of sanctions enhance reemployment and reduce the dependency on the welfare system. Their results indicate that 8 months after a benefit cut induced by the sanction, job seekers would have up to 70 percentage points higher chances of leaving unemployment. Furthermore, "the probability of taking up a job subject to social insurance contribution rises by more than 50 percentage points" (Boockmann et al., 2009, p. 21).

Comparison

The ACR procedure in Wallonia, as well as the Hartz reforms in Germany, have the effects as expected by the literature. Reducing the duration of unemployment benefits leads to shorter unemployment spells, but this can have detrimental effects on the job quality. When the generosity of the unemployment benefits is reduced, the expected effects from theory also can be noticed, i.e. job search efforts go up. The warning of a sanction and the sanctions themselves impact the job search behaviour in a similar way in both countries as well. The unemployed increase the job search behaviour in order to avoid them and in both cases, too strict sanctions show negative effects: job quality and employment duration might suffer.

As explained by Cockx et al. (2011), the effect of the ACR procedure is heterogeneous. It does not only depend on the personal traits of the job seekers, but also on the labour market situation. If the unemployment rate is high and the demand for employment by employers is low, the chances of finding a job are smaller, which will lead to higher and longer unemployment spells. Therefore, job seekers might have a lower incentive to (intensively) look for a job. Furthermore, as these elements are considered when taking into account the severity of the sanctions, job seekers eventually estimate that the sanction will not be that intense if the labour market circumstances are "bad." Heyer et al. (2012) show that the labour market policies in Germany can have a positive effect on the job search behaviour and on reemployment. The authors notify, however, that the effects are heterogeneous within the different groups of individuals and the various labour market policies.

Table 9 presents a summary of the results of the effects of labour market policies on job search behaviour that have been presented.

| Author | Policy/Element | Effect: case of Belgium (Wallonia) | |
|--------------------------------|----------------------------|---|--|
| Cockx and Ries (2004) | Exhaustion of UB | Positive effect on the employment probabilities of women; increase in employment hazard as soon as she gets the warning of the exhaustion; continuous increase until the date of exhaustion; huge jump in employment hazard the month before the exhaustion date (+16p.p.); continuously high employment probability after exhaustion (+25p.p.) (Belgium) | |
| Cocky et al. (2011) | Warning letter | Positive effect on employment (especially when highly educated and living in a region with low unemployment) (Wallonia) | |
| COCKA CI UI. (2011) | Warning letter | Positive effect on participation in training programmes (Wallonia) | |
| | Warning letter | Ambiguous effect on job quality (Wallonia) | |
| Cockx et al. (2018) | Reduction in UB | Ambiguous effect; heterogeneity of individuals leads to various behaviours (Belgium) | |
| Hijzen and Salvatori (2020) | Declining UB | Need more studies to evaluate this programme correctly in Belgium | |
| Author | Policy/Element | Effect: case of Germany | |
| Boockmann et al. (2009) | Intensive use of sanctions | Increase in reemployment and decrease in the dependency on the welfare system; 8 months after sanction: 70p.p. higher chances of leaving unemployment; 50p.p. higher probability of being employment in a job with social insurance contributions | |
| Dlugosz et al. (2009) | Reduction of the duration | Significant effect on those aged 52 to 54 and 57 to 64; increase in unemployment entries shortly before the reform (anticipation effect); strong decrease after the reform; effects only of short duration, because of a modification of the reform in 2008 | |
| Heyer et al. (2012) | Vouchers | Positive effect on job finding, but contract duration seems to be reduced | |
| | Declining UB | Hartz 4 has very strong positive effect on long-term unemployed | |
| Krebs and Scheffel (2013) | Hartz reforms | General positive effect of Hartz reforms on job search behaviour; stronger effect on search effort of long-term unemployed compared to short-term unemployed | |
| Schmieder et al. (2010) | Reduction of UI duration | Unlikely to reduce unemployment | |
| Wolff (2014) | Warning for a sanction | Induce the job seekers to meet the obligations to keep being eligible for unemployment benefits | |
| | Sanction | Low/moderate sanction can have positive effects on job search behaviour in order to not be sanctioned again; too strict sanctions seem to be counterproductive (financial distress, not enough money for food, risk of becoming homeless) | |

Table 9: Summary table: Effects on job search behaviour in Belgium and in Germany

Source: own creation

4 Discussion and Policy recommendations

A suggestion, in order to avoid a big increase in the unemployment rate, would be to focus first of all on the education system. As presented earlier, skills have a primary role in the creation of unemployment. Kettner (2011) states for the case of Germany, that the recruiters are becoming more and more demanding and strict. They request experience and job specific skills, that cannot be acquired during the studies. Thus, youngsters often have difficulties to find a job and employers limit their choices too much, which leads to recruitment difficulties and thus to higher unemployment rates. This is probably not only true for Germany, but also for Belgium. It is therefore important to start at the core of the problem. Education and training must be correctly organised such that individuals can get the required skills for the labour market. The government should intervene with policies after having analysed what jobs might be considered in shortage and what jobs might suffer from skills mismatches in the near future (Cedefop, 2015).

The analysis of both countries shows that Germany manages this part relatively well with the dual apprenticeship system, which provides the acquisition of some job-specific skills, while also having classroom training for the theoretical parts, to the students. Belgium, however, should definitely work on its education system and put some importance on the introduction of more apprenticeships during the studies. This would, as in the case of Germany, give the students the opportunity to acquire job specific skills, which are required more often by employers nowadays. Consequently, unemployment could decline because skills mismatches would become less prevalent. Furthermore, technological progress would also represent less an issue for the labour market. If the individuals are initiated to technology, they can adapt easier to the technological progress, since they have the necessary know-how. Thus, unemployment due to sectorial changes should decline.

The question whether unemployment benefits should be increased or lowered, either in their duration or generosity, is very complex and difficult to answer. The efficiency of the unemployment compensation scheme in Belgium to bring job seekers back into employment is questionable, since it is unlimited in time. Even though it is less generous than in Germany, the probability to constitute a disincentive to look hard for a job seems to be high, as can be shown by the high long-term unemployment rate. It might be better to limit the unemployment benefits and to switch afterwards to an unemployment assistance scheme, which would only pay as much that the unemployed have enough for the rent and the food. However, the payments should not be too low, because the aim is to provide financial help to the unemployed. If the benefits are too low, individuals might fall into poverty. This can have negative effects on their motivation and mental, as well as physical, health, if the situation would become so bad that they even cannot afford enough food to support the family. In that case, unemployment compensation could have the adverse effect of what is wished to achieve.

5 Conclusion

Several labour market policies have been presented throughout this work. In the *Literature review*, a distinction between active and passive labour market policies has been done in order to present them with more ease. In the *Empirical part*, the focus was set on the policies presenting the strongest links between each other or representing an important reason for unemployment. Both countries face similar issues and try to handle them with relatively identical systems. For instance, both of them shift the legal retirement age backwards, work more frequently with training programmes and formations in order to fight the skills mismatches. They try to incentivise and facilitate labour mobility, make use of immigration in order to occupy hard-to-fill vacancies and they introduce financial incentives to attract job seekers back into employment. Of course, even if these systems are similar in both countries, it does not mean that the mechanisms introduced as such are exactly the same. They have to be adjusted to fit to the local situation and the effects of these programmes might slightly differ.

Next to the labour market policies, unemployment benefits have been discussed in deeper details. According to the literature, an increase in the duration and generosity of unemployment benefits should have a negative effect on job search efforts. Thus, this might have a positive effect on job quality and employment duration. Conversely, a shortening of the duration and generosity of benefit payments would have a positive effect on job search behaviour. The unemployment hazard would shift to the new exhaustion date and the lower generosity could incentivise job seekers to look harder for a job because they might be financially constrained. In this case, it is expected that job quality and employment duration would suffer.

Furthermore, it is not clear whether it is better to increase the unemployment benefits at the beginning of the unemployment spell and then to have a declining trend in the payments, or whether lower benefits at the beginning and higher payments in the long-run would be more efficient. As suggested by several authors (i.e., Cockx et al., 2018; Hijzen & Salvatori, 2020), further studies are necessary to get a clearer picture of this topic.

As a concluding remark, it can be said that even though several studies exist, it is important to continue to evaluate the policies regularly in order to be aware of the short-term, medium-run and long-run effects. Only then, precise decisions on policies can be taken in order to improve the labour market situation. It is therefore essential that more studies and evaluations on these topics are done.

Bibliography

- Abbring, J. H., Berg, G. J., & Ours, J. C. (2005). The Effect of Unemployment Insurance Sanctions on the Transition Rate from Unemployment to Employment. *The Economic Journal*, 115(505), 602–630. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-0297.2005.01011.x
- Allen, J., & de Grip, A. (2012). Does skill obsolescence increase the risk of employment loss? *Applied Economics*, 44(25), 3237–3245. doi: 10.1080/00036846.2011.570727
- Ashenfelter, O., Ashmore, D., & Deschênes, O. (2005). Do unemployment insurance recipients actively seek work? Evidence from randomized trials in four U.S. States. *Journal of Econometrics*, 125(1-2 SPEC. ISS.), 53–75. doi: 10.1016/j.jeconom.2004.04.003
- Battu, H., & Bender, K. (2020). Educational mismatch in developing countries: A review of the existing evidence. In *The economics of education* (pp. 269–289). Elsevier. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12 -815391-8.00020-3
- Beauvois, C. (2016). Région wallonne : les nouveaux incitants financiers en faveur de la formation en alternance. Retrieved 2021-02-04, from https://www.groups.be/fr/actualites/ articles-juridiques/Région-wallonne--les-nouveaux-incitants-financiers-en -faveur-de-la-formation-en-alternance
- Berthold, N., & Coban, M. (2013). Mini- und Midijobs in Deutschland: Lohnsubventionierung ohne Beschäftigungseffekte? *ORDO*, 64(1), 289–324. doi: 10.1515/ordo-2013-0115
- Blanchard, O., Amighini, A., & Giavazzi, F. (2013). *Macroeconomics: A European Approach*. Pearson Education Limited.
- Boeri, T., & Bruecker, H. (2011). Short-time work benefits revisited: Some lessons from the Great Recession. *Economic Policy*, 26(68), 697–765. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-0327.2011.271.x
- Boockmann, B., Thomsen, S. L., & Walter, T. (2009). Intensifying the Use of Benefit Sanctions: An Effective Tool to Shorten Welfare Receipt and Speet Up Transitions to Employment? (No. 4580). Retrieved from https://ssrn.com/abstract=1515127
- Boone, J., Sadrieh, A., & van Ours, J. C. (2009). Experiments on unemployment benefit sanctions and job search behavior. *European Economic Review*, 53(8), 937–951. doi: 10.1016/j.euroecorev.2009 .04.005
- Boone, J., & van Ours, J. C. (2012). Why is There a Spike in the Job Finding Rate at Benefit Exhaustion? *De Economist*, 160(4), 413–438. doi: 10.1007/s10645-012-9187-8
- Börsch-Supan, A., & Schnabel, R. (2010). Early Retirement and Employment of the Young in Germany.
 In J. Gruber & D. A. Wise (Eds.), *Research in labor economics* (pp. 147–166). University of Chicago Press. Retrieved from http://www.nber.org/chapters/c8255
- Bourgeois, I. (2013). Les réformes Hartz, remise en cause de l'Etat social ? *Regards sur l'économie allemande*(108), 15–35. doi: 10.4000/rea.4526
- Brunello, G., & Wruuck, P. (2019). Skill Shortages and Skill Mismatch in Europe: A Review of the Literature. IZA Discussion paper series(12346), 1-34. Retrieved from https://ssrn.com/ abstract=3390340
- Brunet, S., Vesentini, F., Albessart, C., Charlier, J., Colicis, O., Debuisson, M., ... Verschueren, F. (2020). Les chiffres-clés de la Wallonie - Edition 2020 (Tech. Rep.). Retrieved from https:// www.iweps.be/publication/cc2020/
- Brunow, S., Gundert, S., & Kubis, A. (2014). Fachkräfteengpässe und atypische Beschäftigung Das eine schließt das andere nicht aus (Vol. 1; Tech. Rep.). Retrieved from http://doku.iab.de/ forum/2014/Forum1_2014_Brunow_Gundert_Kubis.pdf
- Bundesagentur für Arbeit. (n.d.-a). Über uns Organisation. Retrieved 2021-04-13, from https://www.arbeitsagentur.de/ueber-uns
- Bundesagentur für Arbeit. (n.d.-b). Unemployment benefit II (Arbeitslosengeld II) / Social benefit (Sozialgeld). Retrieved 2021-07-22, from https://www.arbeitsagentur.de/en/ unemployment-benefitii
- Bundesministerium für Arbeit und Soziales. (2021). Aufgaben des BMAS. Retrieved 2021-

04-13, from https://www.bmas.de/DE/Ministerium/Aufgaben-des-BMAS/aufgaben-des-bmas.html

- Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Energie. (2020). Die wirtschaftliche Lage in Deutschland im Januar 2020. Retrieved 2021-04-07, from https://www.bmwi.de/Redaktion/DE/ Pressemitteilungen/Wirtschaftliche-Lage/2020/2020115-wirtschaftliche-lage -in-deutschland-im-januar-2020.html
- Burdett, K., & Mortensen, D. T. (1980). Search, Layoffs, and Labor Market Equilibrium. *Journal of Political Economy*, 88(4), 652–672. doi: 10.1086/260896
- Burstedde, A., Flake, R., Jansen, A., Malin, L., Risius, P., Seyda, S., ... Werner, D. (2020). Die Messung des Fachkräftemangels: Methodik und Ergebnisse aus der IW-Fachkräftedatenbank zur Bestimmung von Engpassberufen und zur Berechnung von Fachkräftelücken und anderen Indikatoren (Vol. 59; Tech. Rep.). Köln. Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/10419/ 227093
- Busk, H. (2016). Sanctions and the exit from unemployment in two different benefit schemes. *Labour Economics*, 42, 159–176. doi: 10.1016/j.labeco.2016.09.001
- Bußmann, S., Flake, R., & Seyda, S. (2014). Fachkräfteengpässe in Unternehmen. Unternehmen steigern Ausbildungsangebote in Engpassberufen. Studie (Vol. 2; Tech. Rep.). Retrieved from http:// hdl.handle.net/10419/172075
- Cahuc, P., Carcillo, S., & Zylberberg, A. (2014). *Labor economics*. Cambridge, Massachusetts London, England: MIT Press.
- Cahuc, P., & Lehmann, E. (2000). Should unemployment benefits decrease with the unemployment spell? *Journal of Public Economics*, 77(1), 135–153. doi: 10.1016/S0047-2727(99)00063-8
- Cappelli, P. H. (2015). Skill Gaps, Skill Shortages, and Skill Mismatches: Evidence and Arguments for the United States. *ILR Review*, 68(2), 251–290. doi: 10.1177/0019793914564961
- Card, D., Chetty, R. A., & Weber, A. (2007). The spike at benefit exhaustion: Leaving the unemployment system or starting a new job? In *American economic review* (Vol. 97, pp. 113–118). doi: 10.1257/aer.97.2.113
- Card, D., Kluve, J., & Weber, A. (2018). What Works? A Meta Analysis of Recent Active Labor Market Program Evaluations. *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 16(3), 894–931. doi: 10.1093/jeea/jvx028
- Cedefop. (2010). *The skill matching challenge. Analysing skill mismatch & policy implications*. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities. doi: 10.2801/23851
- Cedefop. (2015). *Skill Shortages and Gaps in European Enterprises*. Luxembourg: Cedefop reference series 102, Publications Office of the European Union. doi: 10.2801/042499
- Cockx, B., Dejemeppe, M., Launov, A., & Van Der Linden, B. (2018). Imperfect monitoring of job search: Structural estimation and policy design. *Journal of Labor Economics*, 36(1), 75–120. doi: 10.1086/693868
- Cockx, B., Dejemeppe, M., & Van Der Linden, B. (2011). Evaluation de l'activation du comportement de recherche d'emploi. Gent: Academia Press. Retrieved from https://dial.uclouvain.be/ pr/boreal/object/boreal:153940
- Cockx, B., & Ries, J. (2004). The Exhaustion of Unemployment Benefits in Belgium: Does it Enhance the Probability of Employment? (No. 1226). doi: 10.2139/ssrn.561742
- Conseil supérieur de l'Emploi. (2019). État des lieux du marché du travail en Belgique et dans les Régions (Tech. Rep.). Retrieved from https://cse.belgique.be/sites/default/files/ content/download/files/rapport_cse_2019_-_etat_des_lieux_-_pv.pdf
- Cottier, L., Degen, K., & Lalive, R. (2020). Can unemployment benefit cuts improve employment and earnings? *Empirical Economics*, 59(2), 659–699. doi: 10.1007/s00181-019-01677-6
- Davis, S. J., Faberman, R. J., & Haltiwanger, J. (2006). The Flow Approach to Labor Markets: New Data Sources and Micro–Macro Links. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 20(3), 3–26. doi: 10.1257/jep.20.3.3
- de Groot, N., & van der Klaauw, B. (2019). The effects of reducing the entitlement period to

unemployment insurance benefits. *Labour Economics*, 57, 195–208. doi: 10.1016/j.labeco.2019 .02.003

- Deschacht, N., & Vansteenkiste, S. (2021). The effect of unemployment duration on reservation wages: Evidence from Belgium. *Labour Economics*, *71*, 102010. doi: 10.1016/j.labeco.2021.102010
- Desjardins, R., & Rubenson, K. (2011). An Analysis of Skill Mismatch Using Direct Measures of Skills. *OECD Education Working Papers*(63). doi: 10.1787/5kg3nh9h52g5-en
- Direction générale du Trésor. (2021). Situation économique et financière de la Belgique. Retrieved from https://www.tresor.economie.gouv.fr/Pays/BE/situation-economique-et -financiere-de-la-belgique
- Dlugosz, S., Stephan, G., & Wilke, R. A. (2009). Verkürzte Bezugsdauern für Arbeitslosengeld: Deutliche Effekte auf die Eintritte in Arbeitslosigkeit (Vol. 30; Tech. Rep.). Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/10419/158317
- Eichhorst, W., Wozny, F., & Cox, M. (2015). Policy Performance and Evaluation: Germany. *IZA Research Report*(66). Retrieved from http://legacy.iza.org/en/webcontent/ publications/reports/report_pdfs/iza_report_66.pdf
- Eurometropolitan e-Campus. (2020). Teach transition : en route vers la techno-pédagogie / Retrieved 2021-07-16, from https://www.ee-campus.be/teach-transition-en-route -vers-la-techno-pedagogie/
- Faberman, R. J., & Haider Ismail, A. (2020). How do unemployment benefits relate to job search behavior? *Chicago Fed Letter*. doi: 10.21033/cfl-2020-441
- Fonder, M., Lejeune, B., & Tarantchenko, E. (2019). Does training boost the job finding rate of the unemployed ? Timing-of-events based evidence from Belgium. Retrieved from http:// hdl.handle.net/2268/240140
- Goebel, J., & Richter, M. (2007). Nach der Einführung von Arbeitslosengeld II: deutlich mehr Verlierer als Gewinner unter den Hilfeempfängern. *DIW Wochenbericht*, 74(50), 753–761. Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/10419/151559
- Grenier, A. (2009). De la surabondance à la pénurie de main-d'œuvre ? Éléments de réflexion. In Pénurie de main-d'oeuvre qualifiée - un enjeu capital. Montréal. Retrieved from http://www.economistesquebecois.com/files/documents/ed/59/de-la -surabondance-a-la-penurie-de-main-d-uuvre-andre-grenier.pdf
- Handel, M. J. (2003). Skills Mismatch in the Labor Market. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 29(1), 135–165. doi: 10.1146/annurev.soc.29.010202.100030
- Hanel, B. (2010). Financial incentives to postpone retirement and further effects on employment -Evidence from a natural experiment. *Labour Economics*, 17(3), 474–486. doi: 10.1016/j.labeco .2009.10.001
- Hanganu, E., & Heß, B. (2016). Die Blaue Karte EU in Deutschland: Kontext und Ergebnisse der BAMF-Befragung (Vol. 27). Nürnberg: Bundesamt für Migration und Flüchtlinge (BAMF) Forschungszentrum Migration, Integration und Asyl (FZ). Retrieved from https://nbn -resolving.org/urn:nbn:de:0168-ssoar-67877-5
- HartzIV.info. (n.d.). Hartz IV Bewilligungszeitraum Dauer der ALG II Bezüge. Retrieved 2021-07-23, from https://hartziv.info/ratgeber/hartz-iv-bewilligungszeitraum
- Haskel, J. (2001). Technology, wages, and skill shortages: evidence from UK micro data. Oxford Economic Papers, 53(4), 642–658. doi: 10.1093/oep/53.4.642
- Heyer, G., Koch, S., Stephan, G., & Wolff, J. (2012). Evaluation der aktiven Arbeitsmarktpolitik: Ein Sachstandsbericht f
 ür die Instrumentenreform 2011. *Journal for Labour Market Research*, 45(1), 41–62. doi: 10.1007/s12651-012-0099-5
- Hijzen, A., Mondauto, L., & Scarpetta, S. (2017). The impact of employment protection on temporary employment: Evidence from a regression discontinuity design. *Labour Economics*, 46, 64–76. doi: 10.1016/j.labeco.2017.01.002
- Hijzen, A., & Salvatori, A. (2020). Designing fair and work-oriented unemployment benefits: The case of Belgium. doi: 10.1787/ac17d171-en

- Hijzen, A., & Venn, D. (2011). The Role of Short-Time Work Schemes during the 2008-09 Recession. OECD Social, Employment and Migration Working Papers(No. 115), 46. Retrieved from https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5kgkd0bbwvxp-en
- Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung. (n.d.). Das IAB. Retrieved 2021-04-14, from https://www.iab.de/de/ueberblick.aspx
- Johnston, A. C., & Mas, A. (2020). Potential Unemployment Insurance Duration and Labor Supply: The Individual and Market-Level Response to a Benefit Cut. *IZA Institute of Labor Economics Discussion Paper*, 13331. Retrieved from http://ftp.iza.org/dp13331.pdf
- Jousten, A., Lefèbvre, M., Perelman, S., & Pestieau, P. (2010). The Effects of Early Retirement on Youth Unemployment The Case of Belgium. In J. Gruber & D. A. Wise (Eds.), *Research in labor* economics (pp. 47–76). University of Chicago Press. Retrieved from http://www.nber.org/ chapters/c8251
- JuraForum.de-Redaktion. (2020). Renteneintrittsalter in Deutschland: welches gesetzliche Rentenalter gilt? Retrieved 2021-04-14, from https://www.juraforum.de/ratgeber/ rentenversicherung/renteneintrittsalter-in-deutschland-welches-gesetzliche -rentenalter-gilt
- Kampelmann, S., & Rycx, F. (2012). The impact of educational mismatch on firm productivity: Evidence from linked panel data. *Economics of Education Review*, 31(6), 918–931. doi: 10.1016/j.econedurev.2012.07.003
- Kampmann, S. (n.d.). *Deutsche Geschichte: Kalter Krieg.* Retrieved 2021-04-06, from https://www .planet-wissen.de/geschichte/deutsche_geschichte/kalter_krieg/index.html
- Kasper, H. (1967). The Asking Price of Labor and the Duration of Unemployment. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 49(2), 165–172. doi: 10.2307/1928224
- Katz, L. F. (1986). *Layoffs, Recall and the Duration of Unemployment* (Tech. Rep.). Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research. doi: 10.3386/w1825
- Katz, L. F., & Meyer, B. D. (1990). Unemployment insurance, recall expectations, and unemployment outcomes. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *105*(4), 973–1002. doi: 10.2307/2937881
- Kettner, A. (2011). Zur Abgrenzung der Begriffe Arbeitskräftemangel, Fachkräftemangel und Fachkräfteengpässe und zu möglichen betrieblichen Gegenstrategien. Institut für Arbeitsmarktund Berufsforschung (IAB), 1-8. Retrieved from http://doku.iab.de/grauepap/2011/ Fachkräftemangel_GrauesPapier_Kettner.pdf
- Krause, M. U., & Uhlig, H. (2012). Transitions in the German labor market: Structure and crisis. *Journal* of Monetary Economics, 59(1), 64–79. doi: 10.1016/j.jmoneco.2011.10.003
- Krebs, T., & Scheffel, M. (2013). Macroeconomic Evaluation of Labor Market Reform in Germany. *IMF Economic Review*, 61(4), 664–701. doi: 10.1057/imfer.2013.19
- Krueger, A. B., & Mueller, A. (2010). Job search and unemployment insurance: New evidence from time use data. *Journal of Public Economics*, *94*(3-4), 298–307. doi: 10.1016/j.jpubeco.2009.12.001
- Krug, G. (2010). Paradoxe Folgen finanzieller Anreize zur Arbeitsaufnahme für die Beschäftigungsstabilität: Eine handlungstheoretische Analyse nach Boudon. Kolner Zeitschrift fur Soziologie und Sozialpsychologie, 62(2), 191–217. doi: 10.1007/s11577-010-0097-y
- Kubis, A., & Rebien, M. (2019). Langzeitarbeitslosigkeit in Zeiten von Fachkräfteengpässen (Vol. 1; Tech. Rep.). Retrieved from https://www.wko.at/site/ WirtschaftspolitischeBlaetter/langzeitarbeitslosigkeit-rebien-kubis.pdf
- Kyyrä, T., Pesola, H., & Verho, J. (2019). The spike at benefit exhaustion: The role of measurement error in benefit eligibility. *Labour Economics*, 60, 75–83. doi: 10.1016/j.labeco.2019.06.001
- Lalive, R., van Ours, J. C., & Zweimüller, J. (2005). The Effect of Benefit Sanctions on the Duration of Unemployment. *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 3(6), 1386–1417. doi: 10.1162/ 154247605775012879
- Lalive, R., van Ours, J. C., & Zweimüller, J. (2006). How Changes in Financial Incentives Affect the Duration of Unemployment. *Review of Economic Studies*, 73(4), 1009–1038. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-937X.2006.00406.x

- Lang, J., & Osiander, C. (2017). Finanzielle Anreize f
 ür Umschulungen: Erkenntnisse aus einem Modellprojekt. Sozialer Fortschritt, 66(9), 569-591. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/ stable/45018266?seq=1#metadata_info_tab_contents doi: 10.3790/sfo.66.9.569
- Langenbucher, K. (2015). How demanding are eligibility criteria for unemployment benefits, quantitative indicators for OECD and EU countries. *OECD Social, Employment and Migration Working Papers*(166). doi: 10.1787/5jrxtk1zw8f2-en
- Le Forem. (2021). Un incitant financier à la formation : Incitant+. Retrieved 2021-02-04, from https://www.leforem.be/particuliers/incitant-financier-formation.html
- Lechner, M., Miquel, R., & Wunsch, C. (2011). Long-run effects of public sector sponsored training in West Germany. *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 9(4), 742-784. Retrieved from https://academic.oup.com/jeea/article/9/4/742/2317265 doi: 10.1111/j.1542-4774 .2011.01029.x
- Lichter, A. (2016). Benefit Duration and Job Search Effort: Evidence from a Natural Experiment. *IZA Discussion Paper*(10264).
- Lichter, A., & Schiprowski, A. (2021). Benefit duration, job search behavior and re-employment. *Journal* of Public Economics, 193(104326). doi: 10.1016/j.jpubeco.2020.104326
- Mahy, B., Rycx, F., & Vermeylen, G. (2015). Educational Mismatch and Firm Productivity: Do Skills, Technology and Uncertainty Matter? *De Economist*, *163*(2), 233–262. doi: 10.1007/s10645-015 -9251-2
- Marinescu, I., & Skandalis, D. (2021). Unemployment Insurance and Job Search Behavior. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 136(2), 887–931. doi: 10.1093/qje/qjaa037
- Marinescu, I., & Wolthoff, R. (2020). Opening the Black Box of the Matching Function: The Power of Words. *Journal of Labor Economics*, 38(2), 535–568. doi: 10.1086/705903
- Maroy, C. (2008). Perte d'attractivité du métier et malaise enseignant. *Recherche & formation*(57), 23–38. doi: 10.4000/rechercheformation.810
- McGowan, M. A., Hijzen, A., Law, D., Salvatori, A., Sicari, P., & Thewissen, S. (2020). Addressing labour market challenges in Belgium. doi: 10.1787/8a542d68-en
- McGuinness, S., Pouliakas, K., & Redmond, P. (2017). How Useful Is the Concept of Skills Mismatch? *IZA Institute of Labor Economics Discussion Paper*(10786), 1-30. Retrieved from https:// ssrn.com/abstract=2979934
- McGuinness, S., Pouliakas, K., & Redmond, P. (2018). Skills mismatch: Concepts, measurement and policy approaches. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, *32*(4), 985–1015. doi: 10.1111/joes.12254
- Meyer, B. D. (1990). Unemployment Insurance and Unemployment Spells. *Econometrica*, 58(4), 757. doi: 10.2307/2938349
- Meyer, B. D. (1995). Lessons from the U.S. Unemployment Insurance Experiments. *Journal* of Economic Literature, 33(1), 91-131. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/2728911
- Minford, P. (1983). Labour Market Equilibrium in an Open Economy. Oxford Economic Papers, 35(Supplement: The Causes of Unemployment (Nov., 1983)), 207–244. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/2662951
- Moffitt, R. (1985). Unemployment insurance and the distribution of unemployment spells. *Journal of Econometrics*, 28(1), 85–101. doi: 10.1016/0304-4076(85)90068-5
- Moreno-Galbis, E., & Tritah, A. (2016). The effects of immigration in frictional labor markets: Theory and empirical evidence from EU countries. *European Economic Review*, 84, 76–98. doi: 10.1016/j.euroecorev.2015.10.001
- Mortensen, D. T. (1977). Unemployment Insurance and Job Search Decisions. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, 30(4), 505. doi: 10.2307/2523111
- Mortensen, D. T. (1986). Job search and labor market analysis. In *Handbook of labor economics* (Vol. 2, pp. 849–919). doi: 10.1016/S1573-4463(86)02005-9
- Mortensen, D. T., & Pissarides, C. A. (1999). New developments in models of search in the labor market. In *Handbook of labor economics* (Vol. 3, pp. 2567–2627). doi: 10.1016/S1573-4463(99)30025-0

- Murtin, F., & Robin, J.-M. (2018). Labor market reforms and unemployment dynamics. *Labour Economics*, 50, 3–19. doi: 10.1016/j.labeco.2016.05.025
- Nevejan, H. (2009). Les incitants financiers à la reprise du travail pour les chômeurs et bénéficiaires du revenu d'intégration en Belgique: hier et aujourd'hui. *Conseil Central de l'Economie, Bruxelles, note CCE, 1486*. Retrieved from https://www.ccecrb.fgov.be/dpics/fichiers/fr/doc09_1486.pdf
- OECD. (2019). *Belgium* (Tech. Rep.). Retrieved from https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/sites/ bc93c8be-en/index.html?itemId=/content/component/bc93c8be-en
- OECD. (2020a). OECD Economic Surveys: Belgium 2020. Author. Retrieved from https://www.oecd -ilibrary.org/economics/oecd-economic-surveys-belgium-2020_1327040c-en
- OECD. (2020b). OECD Economic Surveys: Germany 2020. Author. Retrieved from https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/economics/oecd-economic-surveys-germany-2020 _91973c69-en
- Rayou, P. (2009). Épreuves d'aujourd'hui et métier de demain. *Education et sociétés*, 23(1), 5. doi: 10.3917/es.023.0005
- Riley, R., & Rosazza Bondibene, C. (2017). Raising the standard: Minimum wages and firm productivity. *Labour Economics*, 44, 27–50. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.labeco.2016 .11.010 doi: 10.1016/j.labeco.2016.11.010
- Sala, G. (2011). Approaches to Skills Mismatch in the Labour Market: A Literature Review. *Papers. Revista de Sociologia*, *96*(4), 1025–1045. doi: 10.5565/rev/papers/v96n4.171
- Schmieder, J. F., Von Wachter, T., & Bender, S. (2010). The effects of unemployment insurance on labor supply and search outcomes: Regression discontinuity estimates from Germany. *IAB-Discussion Paper*, 4. Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/10419/32764
- Schmieder, J. F., & von Wachter, T. (2016). The Effects of Unemployment Insurance Benefits: New Evidence and Interpretation. Annual Review of Economics, 8(1), 547–581. doi: 10.1146/annurev -economics-080614-115758
- Sell, S., Becher, L., Oschmiansky, F., & Bersheim, S. (2020). Daten und Fakten: Arbeitslosigkeit. Bundeszentrale für Politische Bildung. Retrieved from https://www.bpb.de/politik/ innenpolitik/arbeitsmarktpolitik/305833/daten-und-fakten-arbeitslosigkeit doi: 10.1007/978-3-662-61350-4_9
- Sirlereau, M. (2018). Bilan du gouvernement Michel: d'abord et surtout du socio-économique. Retrieved 2021-04-14, from https://www.rtbf.be/info/belgique/detail_bilan-du -gouvernement-michel-d-abord-et-surtout-du-socio-economique?id=10080441
- Sloane, P. (2014). Overeducation, skill mismatches, and labor market outcomes for college graduates. *IZA World of Labor*. doi: 10.15185/izawol.88
- Solon, G. (1979). Labor Supply Effects of Extended Unemployment Benefits. *The Journal of Human Resources*, *14*(2), 247. doi: 10.2307/145646
- Van den Berg, G. J., & Klaauw, B. (2019). STRUCTURAL EMPIRICAL EVALUATION OF JOB SEARCH MONITORING. International Economic Review, 60(2), 879–903. doi: 10.1111/iere .12376
- van den Berg, G. J., van der Klaauw, B., & van Ours, J. C. (2004). Punitive Sanctions and the Transition Rate from Welfare to Work. *Journal of Labor Economics*, 22(1), 211–241. doi: 10.1086/380408
- Vander Stricht, V., & Henry, D. (2021). Séries statistiques du marché du travail Wallon Mai 2021 (Tech. Rep.). Retrieved from https://www.iweps.be/publication/series-statistiques -marche-travail-wallon-mai-2021/
- van Ours, J. C., & Vodopivec, M. (2006). How Shortening the Potential Duration of Unemployment Benefits Affects the Duration of Unemployment: Evidence from a Natural Experiment. *Journal of Labor Economics*, 24(2), 351–378. doi: 10.1086/499976
- van Ours, J. C., & Vodopivec, M. (2008). Does reducing unemployment insurance generosity reduce job match quality? *Journal of Public Economics*, 92(3-4), 684–695. doi: 10.1016/j.jpubeco.2007.05 .006

- Vollmer, M. (2015). Bestimmung von Fachkräfte-engpässen und Fachkräfte-bedarfen in Deutschland: Fokus-Studie der deutschen nationalen Kontaktstelle für das Europäische Migrationsnetzwerk (EMN) (Vol. 64). Nürnberg. Retrieved from https://nbn-resolving.org/urn:nbn:de: 0168-ssoar-67706-1
- Wets, J., & De Bruyn, T. (2011). La migration : la solution aux pénuries de personnel dans le secteur des soins et de la santé ? Fondation Roi Baudoin; Bruxelles. Retrieved from https://lirias.kuleuven.be/1899173?limo=0
- Wieling, M., & Borghans, L. (2001). Descrepancies between Supply and Demand and Adjustment Processes in the Labour Market. *Labour*, *15*(1), 33–56. doi: 10.1111/1467-9914.00154
- Wolff, J. (2014). Sanktionen im SGB II und ihre Wirkungen (Vol. 2; Tech. Rep.). Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung. Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/10419/120924
- Zimmer, H. (2012). Labour market mismatches. NBB Economic Review, 55-68. Retrieved from http://www.nationalebank.be/doc/ts/publications/economicreview/ 2012/ecorevii2012_h4.pdf

Appendix

List of job search activities

Figure 18: Job search activities

Definition and examples of job search activities in ATUS 2006.

| Contacting employerMaking phone calls to prospective employerSending out resumesAsking former employers to provide referencesAuditioning for acting role (non-volunteer)Auditioning for band/symphony (non-volunteer)Placing/answering adsResearching details about a jobFilling out job applicationAsking about job openingsReading ads in paper/on InternetChecking vacanciesResearching an employerSubmitting applicationsWriting/updating resumeMeeting with headhunter/temp agencyPicking up job applicationInterviewing (050403), e.g.:Interviewing by phone or in personScheduling/canceling interview (for self)Preparing for interviewOther activities related to job search, e.g.:Waiting associated with job search interview (050404)Security procedures rel. to job search/interviewing (050405)Travel related to job search (180504)Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | Job search activities (050401), e.g.: |
|--|--|
| Making phone calls to prospective employer Sending out resumes Asking former employers to provide references Auditioning for acting role (non-volunteer) Auditioning for band/symphony (non-volunteer) Placing/answering ads Researching details about a job Filling out job application Asking about job openings Reading ads in paper/on Internet Checking vacancies Researching an employer Submitting applications Writing/updating resume Meeting with headhunter/temp agency Picking up job application Interviewing (050403), e.g.: Interviewing by phone or in person Scheduling/canceling interview (for self) Preparing for interview Other activities related to job search, e.g.: Waiting associated with job search interview (050404) Security procedures rel, to job search/interviewing (050405) Travel related to job search (180504) Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | Contacting employer |
| Sending out resumes Asking former employers to provide references Auditioning for acting role (non-volunteer) Auditioning for band/symphony (non-volunteer) Placing/answering ads Researching details about a job Filling out job application Asking about job openings Reading ads in paper/on Internet Checking vacancies Researching an employer Submitting applications Writing/updating resume Meeting with headhunter/temp agency Picking up job application Interviewing (050403), e.g.: Interviewing (050403), e.g.: Interviewing by phone or in person Scheduling/canceling interview (for self) Preparing for interview Other activities related to job search, e.g.: Waiting associated with job search interview (050404) Security procedures rel. to job search/interviewing (050405) Travel related to job search (180504) Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | Making phone calls to prospective employer |
| Asking former employers to provide references Auditioning for acting role (non-volunteer) Auditioning for band/symphony (non-volunteer) Placing/answering ads Researching details about a job Filling out job application Asking about job openings Reading ads in paper/on Internet Checking vacancies Researching an employer Submitting applications Writing/updating resume Meeting with headhunter/temp agency Picking up job application Interviewing (050403), e.g.: Interviewing by phone or in person Scheduling/canceling interview (for self) Preparing for interview Other activities related to job search, e.g.: Waiting associated with job search interview (050404) Security procedures rel. to job search/interviewing (050405) Travel related to job search (180504) Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | Sending out resumes |
| Auditioning for acting role (non-volunteer) Auditioning for band/symphony (non-volunteer) Placing/answering ads Researching details about a job Filling out job application Asking about job openings Reading ads in paper/on Internet Checking vacancies Researching an employer Submitting applications Writing/updating resume Meeting with headhunter/temp agency Picking up job application Interviewing (050403), e.g.: Interviewing (050403), e.g.: Interviewing for interview (for self) Preparing for interview Other activities related to job search, e.g.: Waiting associated with job search interview (050404) Security procedures rel. to job search/interviewing (050405) Travel related to job search (180504) Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | Asking former employers to provide references |
| Auditioning for band/symphony (non-volunteer) Placing/answering ads Researching details about a job Filling out job application Asking about job openings Reading ads in paper/on Internet Checking vacancies Researching an employer Submitting applications Writing/updating resume Meeting with headhunter/temp agency Picking up job application Interviewing (050403), e.g.: Interviewing (050403), e.g.: Interviewing by phone or in person Scheduling/canceling interview (for self) Preparing for interview Other activities related to job search, e.g.: Waiting associated with job search interview (050404) Security procedures rel. to job search/interviewing (050405) Travel related to job search (180504) Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | Auditioning for acting role (non-volunteer) |
| Placing/answering ads Researching details about a job Filling out job application Asking about job openings Reading ads in paper/on Internet Checking vacancies Researching an employer Submitting applications Writing/updating resume Meeting with headhunter/temp agency Picking up job application Interviewing (050403), e.g.: Interviewing by phone or in person Scheduling/canceling interview (for self) Preparing for interview Other activities related to job search, e.g.: Waiting associated with job search interview (050404) Security procedures rel. to job search/interviewing (050405) Travel related to job search (180504) Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | Auditioning for band/symphony (non-volunteer) |
| Researching details about a jobFilling out job applicationAsking about job openingsReading ads in paper/on InternetChecking vacanciesResearching an employerSubmitting applicationsWriting/updating resumeMeeting with headhunter/temp agencyPicking up job applicationInterviewing (050403), e.g.:Interviewing by phone or in personScheduling/canceling interview (for self)Preparing for interviewOther activities related to job search, e.g.:Waiting associated with job search interviewing (050404)Security procedures rel. to job search/interviewing (050405)Travel related to job search (180504)Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | Placing/answering ads |
| Filling out job application Asking about job openings Reading ads in paper/on Internet Checking vacancies Researching an employer Submitting applications Writing/updating resume Meeting with headhunter/temp agency Picking up job application Interviewing (050403), e.g.: Interviewing (050403), e.g.: Interviewing by phone or in person Scheduling/canceling interview (for self) Preparing for interview Other activities related to job search, e.g.: Waiting associated with job search interview (050404) Security procedures rel. to job search/interviewing (050405) Travel related to job search (180504) Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | Researching details about a job |
| Asking about job openings Reading ads in paper/on Internet Checking vacancies Researching an employer Submitting applications Writing/updating resume Meeting with headhunter/temp agency Picking up job application Interviewing (050403), e.g.: Interviewing (050403), e.g.: Interviewing by phone or in person Scheduling/canceling interview (for self) Preparing for interview Other activities related to job search, e.g.: Waiting associated with job search interview (050404) Security procedures rel. to job search/interviewing (050405) Travel related to job search (180504) Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | Filling out job application |
| Reading ads in paper/on InternetChecking vacanciesResearching an employerSubmitting applicationsWriting/updating resumeMeeting with headhunter/temp agencyPicking up job applicationInterviewing (050403), e.g.:Interviewing (050403), e.g.:Interviewing by phone or in personScheduling/canceling interview (for self)Preparing for interviewOther activities related to job search, e.g.:Waiting associated with job search interview (050404)Security procedures rel. to job search/interviewing (050405)Travel related to job search (180504)Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | Asking about job openings |
| Checking vacancies Researching an employer Submitting applications Writing/updating resume Meeting with headhunter/temp agency Picking up job application Interviewing (050403), e.g.: Interviewing by phone or in person Scheduling/canceling interview (for self) Preparing for interview Other activities related to job search, e.g.: Waiting associated with job search interview (050404) Security procedures rel. to job search/interviewing (050405) Travel related to job search (180504) Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | Reading ads in paper/on Internet |
| Researching an employer Submitting applications Writing/updating resume Meeting with headhunter/temp agency Picking up job application Interviewing (050403), e.g.: Interviewing by phone or in person Scheduling/canceling interview (for self) Preparing for interview Other activities related to job search, e.g.: Waiting associated with job search interview (050404) Security procedures rel. to job search/interviewing (050405) Travel related to job search (180504) Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | Checking vacancies |
| Submitting applications Writing/updating resume Meeting with headhunter/temp agency Picking up job application Interviewing (050403), e.g.: Interviewing by phone or in person Scheduling/canceling interview (for self) Preparing for interview Other activities related to job search, e.g.: Waiting associated with job search interview (050404) Security procedures rel. to job search/interviewing (050405) Travel related to job search (180504) Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | Researching an employer |
| Writing/updating resume Meeting with headhunter/temp agency Picking up job application Interviewing (050403), e.g.: Interviewing by phone or in person Scheduling/canceling interview (for self) Preparing for interview Other activities related to job search, e.g.: Waiting associated with job search interview (050404) Security procedures rel. to job search/interviewing (050405) Travel related to job search (180504) Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | Submitting applications |
| Meeting with headhunter/temp agency Picking up job application Interviewing (050403), e.g.: Interviewing by phone or in person Scheduling/canceling interview (for self) Preparing for interview Other activities related to job search, e.g.: Waiting associated with job search interview (050404) Security procedures rel. to job search/interviewing (050405) Travel related to job search (180504) Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | Writing/updating resume |
| Picking up job application Interviewing (050403), e.g.: Interviewing by phone or in person Scheduling/canceling interview (for self) Preparing for interview Other activities related to job search, e.g.: Waiting associated with job search interview (050404) Security procedures rel. to job search/interviewing (050405) Travel related to job search (180504) Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | Meeting with headhunter/temp agency |
| Interviewing (050403), e.g.: Interviewing by phone or in person Scheduling/canceling interview (for self) Preparing for interview Other activities related to job search, e.g.: Waiting associated with job search interview (050404) Security procedures rel. to job search/interviewing (050405) Travel related to job search (180504) Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | Picking up job application |
| Interviewing by phone or in person Scheduling/canceling interview (for self) Preparing for interview Other activities related to job search, e.g.: Waiting associated with job search interview (050404) Security procedures rel. to job search/interviewing (050405) Travel related to job search (180504) Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | Interviewing (050403), e.g.: |
| Scheduling/canceling interview (for self) Preparing for interview Other activities related to job search, e.g.: Waiting associated with job search interview (050404) Security procedures rel. to job search/interviewing (050405) Travel related to job search (180504) Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | Interviewing by phone or in person |
| Preparing for interview Other activities related to job search, e.g.: Waiting associated with job search interview (050404) Security procedures rel. to job search/interviewing (050405) Travel related to job search (180504) Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | Scheduling/canceling interview (for self) |
| Other activities related to job search, e.g.: Waiting associated with job search interview (050404) Security procedures rel. to job search/interviewing (050405) Travel related to job search (180504) Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | Preparing for interview |
| Other activities related to job search, e.g.: Waiting associated with job search interview (050404) Security procedures rel. to job search/interviewing (050405) Travel related to job search (180504) Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | |
| Waiting associated with job search interview (050404) Security procedures rel. to job search/interviewing (050405) Travel related to job search (180504) Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | Other activities related to job search, e.g.: |
| Security procedures rel. to job search/interviewing (050405) Travel related to job search (180504) Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | Waiting associated with job search interview (050404) |
| Travel related to job search (180504) Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | Security procedures rel. to job search/interviewing (050405) |
| Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) | Travel related to job search (180504) |
| | Job search activities, not elsewhere specified (050499) |

Source: Krueger and Mueller (2010, Table 1).